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Preface 

The History Program of GAO uses oral history interviews to supplement 
documentary and other original sources of information on GAO’S past. 
These interviews help provide additional facts and varying perspectives 
on important past events. Transcripts of the interviews, as well as the 
audiotapes and videotapes, become important historical documents 
themselves and are used in preparation of written histories of GAO, in 
staff training, and for other purposes. 

Although the transcripts are edited versions of the original recordings, 
GAO tries to preserve the flavor of the spoken word. The transcripts 
reflect the recollections, the impressions, and the opinions of the persons 
being interviewed. Like all historical sources, they need to be analyzed 
in terms of their origins and corroborated by other sources of informa- 
tion. The transcripts in themselves should not necessarily be considered 
definitive in their treatment of the subjects covered. 

The Comptroller General first established a separate policy office as 
part of a GAO-wide reorganization in 1956. The Office of Policy is the 
focal point for developing, promulgating, and interpreting GAO’S auditing 
and reporting policies. It provides advice and assistance to the Comp- 
troller General, management, and staff in applying GAO’S audit and eval- 
uation policies. 

Donald J. Horan, Eugene L. Pahl, and Allen R. Voss served on the Policy 
staff for several years. Mr. Voss and subsequently Mr. Horan went on to 
assume the directorship of the Office of Policy. The interview, con- 
ducted on May 14, 1991, covered GAO’S policy activities during most of a 
23-year period from 1963 to 1986, highlighting the bases for developing 
and revising GAO policies over the years. 

Copies of the transcript are available to GAO officials and other inter- 
ested parties. 

Werner Grosshans 
Assistant Comptroller General 

for Policy 
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Biographical Information 

Mr. Horan has been the Assistant Comptroller General for Planning and 
Reporting since 1986. He joined GAO in 1955 and held positions of 
increasing responsibility in GAO'S New York Regional Office before trans- 
ferring to the Office of Policy and Special Studies in Washington in 1965. 
He served as an Assistant Director in the Procurement and Systems 
Acquisition Division from 1972 to 1974, when he was designated as 
Director, Office of Policy. In 1978, he became the Deputy Director, 
Logistics and Communications Division, and in 1981, he was designated 
Director, Procurement, Logistics, and Readiness Division In 1983, he 
again became the Director of the Office of Policy. 

Donald J. Horan 

Eugene L. Pahl 

Mr. Pahl joined GAO in 1950 and had varied audit experience at the 
Atomic Energy Commission; the Departments of Agriculture, the Trea- 
sury, and the Interior; the Central Intelligence Agency; and other agen- 
cies. In 1966, he became an Assistant Director of the Civil Division, and 
in 1971, he transferred to the policy staff of the Office of Policy and 
Program Planning. He retired in June 1975 after 33 years of federal 
service. 
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Mr. Voss joined GAO in 1958 and was assigned to its Civil Accounting and 
Auditing Division until 1963. He then transferred to the Accounting and 
Auditing Policy staff and served, except for a Z-year period in charge of 
audits at the Department of the Interior and the Environmental Protec- 
tion Agency, in increasingly higher policy positions. He became the 
Director, Office of Policy, in 1972. Mr. Voss served as GAO'S Regional 
Manager in Philadelphia from 1974 to 1978, when he was designated 
Director of the General Government Division. He left GAO in 1980 and 
became the Assistant Public Printer of the United States. He retired in 
1982. 

AIlen R. Voss 
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Interviewers 

Werner Grosshans Werner Grosshans is the Assistant Comptroller General for Policy. He 
began his diversified career as a government auditor in 1958 in GAO'S 

San Francisco Regional Office and held positions of increased responsi- 
bility, including Assistant Regional Manager in 1967. In July 1970, he 
transferred to the U.S. Postal Service as Assistant Regional Chief 
Inspector for Audits. In this position, he was responsible for the audits 
in the 13 western states. In October 1972, he returned to GAO to the 
Logistics and Communications Division. In 1980, he was appointed 
Deputy Director of the Procurement, Logistics, and Readiness Division, 
and in 1983, he was appointed Director of Planning in the newly created 
National Security and International Affairs Division. In 1985, he became 
Director of the Office of Program Planning, where he remained until 
1986, when he assumed responsibility for GAO’s Office of Policy. 

Henry Eschwege Henry Eschwege retired in March 1986 after almost 30 years of service 
in GAO under three Comptrollers General. He held increasing responsibil- 
ities in the former Civil Division and became the Director of GAO'S 

Resources and Economic Development Division upon its creation in 
1972. He remained the Director after the Division was renamed the 
Community and Economic Development Division. In 1982, he was 
appointed Assistant Comptroller General for Planning and Reporting. 

Roger R. Trask Roger R. Trask became Chief Historian of GAO in July 1987. After 
receiving his Ph.D. in history from the Pennsylvania State University, 
he taught between 1959 and 1980 at several colleges and universities, 
incIuding Macalester College and the University of South Florida; at 
both of these institutions, he served as Chairman of the Department of 
History. He is the author or the editor of numerous books and articles, 
mainly in the foreign policy and defense areas. He began his career in 
the federal government as Chief Historian of the U.S. Nuclear Regula- 
tory Commission (1977-1978). In September 1980, he became the 
Deputy Historian in the Historical Office, Office of the Secretary of 
Defense, where he remained until his appointment in GAO. 
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Interview With Donald J. Horan, Eugene Pahl, 
and Allen R. Voss, May 14,199l 

Introduction 

Mr. Eschwege Good morning, and welcome back to the two of you who came here this 
morning from out of town-Al Voss, who came from Virginia, and Gene 
Pahl, who came all the way from Florida. We’re glad to have you back at 
GAO. Joining us also is Don Horan, GAO'S Assistant Comptroller General 
for Planning and Reporting [P&R], who is right here in this building. I’m 
sure he has a lot to contribute to the topic of our discussion this 
morning, which involves an oral history of GAO'S policy formulation over 
the years. 

This is Tuesday, May 14, 1991, You picked a very nice and warm day. 

On my left, as you know, is Werner Grosshans, the Assistant Comp- 
troller General for Policy, and to his left is Dr. Roger Trask, Chief Histo- 
rian of the General Accounting Office. I’m Henry Eschwege, formerly of 
the General Accounting Office. 

During its first 35 years, GAO did not really have a separate policy staff 
as far as I could determine. But I’m sure policy was made in GAO from 
1921 on, except I’d venture to guess that the function was less complex 
than it was in later years. And presumably the policy was made at the 
very top by the Comptroller General [cc], the Assistant Comptroller Gen- 
eral, and their assistants. 

With the increase in professionalism in GAO, starting with Comptroller 
General Lindsay C. Warren, there arose a need to formalize the policy 
development in GAO. In 1956, Comptroller General Joseph Campbell 
established for the first time the Accounting and Auditing Policy Staff 
[AAPS] as part of a reorganization of the General Accounting Office. 

Overview of GAO 
Careers 

The first thing we’d like you gentlemen to do, starting with Don, is to 
briefly give us a little biographical sketch of why and how you came to 
GAO and describe your activities in the policy area since then. 

Mr. Horan Thank you, Henry. It’s a bit strange to be part of history before I’ve left 
the organization. 

Mr. Eschwege We’re trying to tell you something. [Laughter] 
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Interview With Donald J. Horan, Eugene Pahl, 
and Allen R. Voss, May 14,199l 

Mr. Horan I joined GAO right out of college in 1955 in the New York Regional Office. 
I spent my first 5 years doing all kinds of auditing work in the New York 
Regional Office. Then I moved to a GAO suboffice in Syracuse, New York, 
and spent 5 years there. Dave Sorando was in charge of that office. 

After about 5 years, the suboffice was being closed down because the 
work had dried up, and so I started looking for a new place to work. I 
didn’t care to go back to the New York area, so I talked with John 
Thornton [Director, Field Operations Division (FOD)] about some assign- 
ment in Washington, At the time that I came in to talk to him, John 
suggested that I go down and speak with Bob Rasor, who was the Asso- 
ciate Director of the Accounting and Auditing Policy Staff; this was in 
1965. 

I knew very little, actually, about the Office of Policy. Of course, I had 
read the Comprehensive Audit Manual faithfully and knew that some- 
body down there must have struggled hard with it. I also heard horror 
stories about the report review staff in the Office of Policy and about 
how tough it was to get reports through, but I knew very little about the 
organization. Bob Rasor stated that it would be a good developmental 
experience for me and would give me a chance to size up what else was 
going on in headquarters before I made a more permanent career move. 
So I joined the Office of Policy as a report reviewer in 1965 and ended 
up staying there for about 7 years, until 1972. 

In 1972, I was assigned to the Procurement and Systems Acquisition 
Division, working for Jim Hammond as an Assistant Director. I spent 
about 2 years doing that, and then the call came that the Office of Policy 
wanted me to rejoin it as Acting Director, I believe. Anyway, I spent 
another 4 years in the Office of Policy, ending up as its Director. In 
1978, I became the Deputy Director of the Logistics and Communications 
Division. 

After a reorganization, we ended up creating the Procurement, Logistics, 
and Readiness Division, and I was named Director of that Division and 
spent a few years as Director. Following another reorganization after 
Mr. Bowsher got here, I came back in 1983 to the Office of Policy to 
head it up as the Director and spent 3 more years there before taking 
the job in 1986 of the illustrious Henry Eschwege as he retired. That’s 
about the way it went for me. 

Mr. Eschwege I know I did you a favor when I retired; it allowed you to make a change 
after you had spent all that time in Policy. Thank you. 
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Interview With Donald J. Horan, Eugene Pahl, 
and Allen R. Voss, May 14,1991 

Mr. Voss My name is Al Voss. I came to GAO in 1958 as an auditor, grade 7, and I 
spent 5 years in what was known then as the Civil Division. I wasn’t 
told this, but I understand that the Director of the Civil Division, A. T. 
Samuelson, had concluded in 1963 that it would be good for my career if 
I went to Policy. At that time, it was called AAPS. We in the operating 
division always had a little fear of the Policy staff. Number one, you 
didn’t get promoted, so I didn’t like that too well, and number two, you 
were always in a confrontational stage with the operating people over 
report reviews. But I didn’t have much of a choice, because Mr. Samu- 
elson insisted that I go, and I understand the choice for filling the posi- 
tion was between me and Greg Ahart at that time, and Greg 
conveniently went away for 2 weeks on a little trip, so he was not 
available. 

But I’ll be frank with you. I did go in 1963 as a report reviewer, and I 
stayed there until 1968. I really found those 5 years to be one of the best 
periods of my GAO career, from a training standpoint and from a stand- 
point of understanding what GAO was about on the Defense Division 
side, the Civil Division side, and the International Division side. My 
immediate boss was Bob Rasor, who I thought was an outstanding 
person. He provided great training and exhibited great compassion and 
great understanding. He was tough on reports, but he was completely 
dedicated to GAO. I learned a lot in those 5 years. 

I progressed up to Assistant Director of Policy, and in 1968, I was told 
that I was going back to the Civil Division. I too thought it was time to 
get back into operations. I went to the Interior group of the Civil Divi- 
sion as the Associate Director, and at that time, a little agency, initially 
not well-known, EPA [Environmental Protection Agency] came into being. 
It was also part of my audit responsibility. I spent 2 more years until 
1970 in the Civil Division. Bob Rasor had taken sick and had to take an 
early retirement. Mose [Ellsworth] Morse, the Director, asked if I would 
come back to Policy and I did around November 1970. 

In April of 1972, there was a major GAO reorganization, and I became 
Director of the Office of Policy. In 1974, I asked to go to a region and I 
was assigned to the Philadelphia Regional Office as Regional Manager. I 
spent 4 years there, and I feel those 4 years were very worthwhile. You 
get a different view of GAO when you’re in a region. 

In 1978, Bob Keller [Deputy Comptroller General] asked if I would come 
back to Washington and become the Director of the General Government 
Division [GGD], which I did. I stayed there from 1978 to the beginning of 

Page 3 



Interview With Donald J. Horan, Eugene Pahl, 
and Allen R Voss, May 14,199l 

Mr. Pahl 

1980, when I left GAO for a position in the Government Printing Office; 
this developed into my being designated as the Assistant Public Printer 
of the United States. In 1982, I retired from government under an “early 
out” provision. Since then, I’ve been in and out of industry, working as a 
consultant and most recently as a vice president of a corporation in 
Virginia. 

I’m Eugene Pahl. Like Don Horan, I came to the Office straight out of 
college, but I came 5 years earlier. I came in 1950 into the Corporation 
Audits Division. I needed a job very badly, and I was fortunate in taking 
one with GAO. I stayed with the Corporation Audits Division and moved 
through the Division of Audits to the Civil Division when it was created. 
In 1971, I was assigned to the Policy staff and remained there until I 
retired in 1975. 

I had some of the most unusual audit assignments I think there ever 
were in GAO, from congressional inquiries in Agriculture, where Con- 
gressman Jamie Whitten had some serious concerns about the Depart- 
ment’s activities and GAO'S audit role and where I first met Henry 
[Eschwege], to the Atomic Energy Commission [AEC], NASA [National Aer- 
onautics and Space Administration], and the Interstate Commerce Com- 
mission. But most unusual of all was my audit assignment at the Central 
Intelligence Agency [CIA]. There were two or three of us on that audit. 
The one thing that stuck in my mind all these years was the top-level 
assistance we got to audit the CIA. After that experience, I said, “Thank 
God for the Office of Policy, and thank God for the concept of indepen- 
dent referencing.” We issued some reports and nobody saw them except 
Mr. Samuelson, Mr. Campbell, and Mr. Keller. 

So I had lots of audit assignments in the Civil Division, and I also had a 
couple of staff positions, including one on the Division’s Program and 
Report Review Staff, which was interesting and enlightening. You real- 
ized that there were other people besides you who couldn’t write 
reports. 

I’m retired now; I left the Office in 1975. I am very fortunate, being 
happily married and living in Florida in the central part of the state. I 
boat, I fish, and I have computers that I work with. Now I also have a 
camcorder as an additional hobby. I recommend these activities to you 
fellows when you’ve had enough of work. Come down, relax, and really 
e@oy life. It gets better. 
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Interview With Donald J. Horan, Eugene Pabl, 
and Allen R. Voss, May 14,1991 

Creation of Policy 
Staff in 1956 

Mr. Grosshans Maybe we can talk a little bit about how AAPS was created. Its creation 
goes back to 1956, following the “zinc stink” case, as well as the enact- 
ment of the Budget and Accounting Act of 1950. Do any of you recall 
what prompted the creation of the Policy staff in those days? 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Grosshans 

Mr. Voss Right. 

Well, let me start out. I don’t recall, since I wasn’t here in 1956, but, of 
course, creation of such a staff was something that was talked about. 
Bob Rasor told me a little bit about that. The authority, of course, was 
there to create a policy staff. Joseph Campbell became the CG in 1954. 
One of the first reports completed by GAO under Joe Campbell dealt with 
the “zinc stink” case. We were criticized very heavily on the floor of the 
House for that report, where it was stated that “If this is the kind of 
work that the Comptroller General is going to put out, we don’t need a 
Comptroller General or a General Accounting Office.” 

That caused Mr. Campbell some considerable concern, and he was 
looking for a unit within GAO that was going to protect him and would be 
the last front before something got to his desk for signature. Such a unit 
would be reviewing the draft from an independent standpoint, and it 
would determine whether our reports were adequately supported; 
whether they were critical of individuals especially; whether we had 
had the right people at exit interviews; and whether, in some cases, we 
even had obtained written statements from some of the interviewees. 

That’s my understanding of why AAPS was created under Walt Frese, 
who remained its Director only a short period of time. Ellsworth [Mose] 
Morse took over very shortly after the staff was created. He stayed until 
a new organization was formed. That is my understanding of how AAPS 
got started. 

That ties into the realignment, or reorganization, in 1956. That’s when 
Campbell created the Civil and Defense Divisions, and then Mose, for a 
very short period, was heading up the civil side before Sammy took it 
over. Walt Frese, like you pointed out, headed the Policy office before he 
went up to Harvard, and then Mose moved over to Policy, and Sammy 
took over the CiviI Division. 
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Interview With Donald J. Horan, Eugene Pahl, 
and Allen B. Voss, May 14,X391 

Mr. Grosshans What were the main roles that Policy in those days carried out? Let’s 
discuss them, in terms of internal and external policies, if we can. 

Mr. Voss Internally, of course, we were responsible for the Comprehensive Audit 
Manual, which set the audit policies for the General Accounting Office. 
We were also responsible for the Report Manual, which set the policies 
for preparing reports. We had other manuals that people didn’t even 
know about, I guess. For example, we had a Statistical Sampling Manual 
for use by GAO auditors. The Comprehensive Audit Manual had seven 
volumes that had to be maintained. 

The CG would not want any report to come up to his desk for signature 
without being reviewed by the Policy staff. Report review was a big 
function in AAPS. We also had a group there under Ed Mahoney at a time 
when the use in government of ADP [automatic data processing] was 
picking up a little bit. Ed Mahoney was an accountant, but he also had a 
lot of expertise in computers. UPS developed an ADP Manual. Bob Rasor 
was responsible for GAO'S audit policy related to ADP application, but Ed 
Mahoney was responsible for seeing that the ADP Manual was kept up-to- 
date. 

Responsibility for audit policy on financial audits was assigned also to 
Bob Rasor, but it really came under Fred Smith, who was the Deputy 
Director at that time. He was what you’d call the expert in auditing and 
accounting concerning financial statements. AAPS was a small staff. Nine 
or 10 people, I guess, at the most. 

External policies were developed for executive agencies. We provided 
them with a little booklet on internal audit guidance. Another example is 
title 2 of the manual entitled GAO Policy and Procedures Manual for 
Guidance of Federal Agencies. There were a lot of other titles incorpo- 
rated in the manual. Title 2 had to be maintained up-to-date. The 
responsibility fell to Policy, although the different divisions made sub- 
stantial contributions to keeping those manuals up-to-date. 

Mr. Grosshans It’s still the same today. 

Mr. Voss That’s right. Nothing ever changes. [Laughter] This man [Don Horan] 
knows a lot about that, too, because he did a lot of the writing of those 
manuals. 

Mr. Horan I did, and you did a lot of the reviewing and revising. 
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Interview With Donald J. Horan, Eugene Pahl, 
and Allen R. Voss, May 14,199l 

Mr. Pahl That’s a change, though. The parts I had Al wouldn’t touch with a lo- 
foot pole. He’d let them go directly to Mose and let Mr. Morse work on 
them. 

Mr. Grosshans Most of us, when we came in, were given what was then the Comprehen- 
sive Audit Manual in one volume. It was a big, monstrous thing. Now, as 
I understand it, Mose Morse developed that in 1952. Do any of you recall 
what prompted that? The manual preceded the creation of Policy. 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Horan 

Mr. Eschwege That organizational change came later. 

Mr. Grosshans We’ll come back and talk a little more about that. That is one of the 
issues we want to cover. 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Pahl 

Mr. Grosshans 

I knew Mose had been involved in policy writing for auditing almost 
from day 1, but not necessarily for the manuals to be used within GAO. 

Wasn’t there a linkage at one time between policy and training? For a 
while, Leo Herbert [in charge of staff development], I think, was part of 
UPS. I thought maybe that might have been the link to fill the need for 
policy guidance to support the training. 

Mose was a fantastic policy man, much more so than an operating man. I 
had a feeling even way back when he was in the Division of Audits and 
the Corporation Audits Division that he had a lot to do with the internal 
policies and procedures within those Divisions, and it’s very possible 
that their manuals blossomed into being GAO-wide manuals. 

Well, I believe he also did the report review under Mr. Samuelson, didn’t 
he, in the audit divisions? 

Leo covered some of this in his oral history interview with us. There 
was an obvious connection between training and policy. Leo alluded to 
the fact that he had some difficulty in using the manuals in the training 
because they were not as prescriptive as he would have liked. In fact, 
history does repeat itself. Don and I just had a discussion with the cur- 
rent TI ITraining Institute] Director, and some of the discussion revolved 
around the same issue. In other words, can’t we provide a more defini- 
tive type of guidance that would be easier to be taught because it could 
be put out as the authoritative word on the particular subject we’re 
talking about? 
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Interview With Donald J. Horan, Eugene Pahl, 
and Allen R. Voss, May 14,199l 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Grosshans 

Mr. Voss 

Even in the early days, there was some of that type of discussion. We 
asked, “What type of policy should we have?” Should it be very pre- 
scriptive, or should it be more descriptive, setting out more of the base- 
lines and the conceptual framework rather than the very detailed type 
of discussion of what people ought to do in given situations? Did you 
have any of that type of discussion with Mose or among yourselves? 

With Mose; Bob Rasor; Leo Herbert; and Leo’s assistant, Roger Kirvan, 
who was an ex-FBI man. 

Roger was very vocal on some of these subjects. Yes, you’re right. Leo 
Herbert said he really couldn’t use that manual in a classroom, because 
it was not very specific in every instance as to how an audit was sup- 
posed to be done and how a survey was supposed to be done. Mose was 
adamant; he thought the policy was sufficiently prescriptive. He didn’t 
want to get any more specific, because he felt the operating divisions 
needed leeway. 

If you read the words we used as we wrote and rewrote these manuals, 
you’ll see the words “generally” and “in most instances.” We didn’t say 
“in all cases,” because we knew things were not going to be done a cer- 
tain way in all cases, and there were good reasons for this. Leo did not 
like that and Kirvan did not like that. 

We already talked a little bit about why and how training became a part 
of policy. The real reason for the changes was Roger Kirvan. It occurred 
not necessarily because of the difference in whether we should be pre- 
scribing or describing the policy. It occurred because of differences in 
judging what constituted the best type of evidence. Roger Kirvan, of 
course, believed that the number one and best evidence was oral evi- 
dence, and that was absolutely the worst evidence, as far as we were 
concerned. And that was enough to get Bob Rasor, Mose, and even me 
very upset about how that particular subject was taught. 

Can we spend just a little bit more time on this. It is important. Leo then 
came up with his conceptual frame of reference, the planning, the doing, 
and the reviewing-PDR-and so on, yet Policy never embraced that. It 
was simply a kind of track the training staff were going on for a while. 
What caused that rift? 

I don’t know that Policy didn’t embrace it. I think Policy did embrace it. 
I thought Leo was a very intelligent man in how he put together courses 
for classroom teaching as opposed to what we were doing in writing 
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Interview With Donald J. Horan, Eugene Pahl, 
and Allen R. Voss, May 14,199l 

Mr. Grosshans 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Horan 

Mr. Pahl 

Mr. Horan 

manuals that he said he could not really use. We described planning, 
doing, and reviewing in our manual. Of course, Leo finally got to the 
point where under planning, you had planning, doing, and reviewing-it 
got a little bit too much. But the Office certainly embraced planning, 
doing, and reviewing. 

I don’t recall the policy manuals ever being discussed. You’re right, GAO 
did get heavily into the PDR concept, but the involvement was more from 
a training standpoint than it was from a standpoint of prescribing it as 
policy. 

Preliminary survey is really a part of planning. You don’t know where 
you’re going to audit, unless you get into knowing what the agency does, 
and you get that out of the preliminary surveys. Supposedly, from that 
survey you could plan as to which areas a particular audit group would 
review over the next 2 or 3 years. 

I think there’s been tension as long as I can remember between people 
who use certain terminology in training and people who use it in writing 
policy. A lot of times, you could conceptually agree with the approach 
taken and you would say, “Well, we just call it preliminary survey. 
You’re calling it job design or something else.” So there was always that 
tension that the trainers wanted to use a particular set of words to 
describe the process and the approach, and the manuals possibly tended 
to be somewhat more behind the times. We stayed with some concepts 
that had been set in there, and we tended to say, “Well, even though we 
don’t use that word, that’s what it is.” So, in effect, a person could do 
exactly what he or she was being taught in training. 

Don, I always thought the manuals were not meant for classroom 
training. They provided guidance for on-the-job training. When you 
were doing an audit and you needed some guidance or help, you could 
invariably refer to the manual to get some help. You might not get “You 
have to dot this I” or “The debits are on the window side,” but you’d get 
needed guidance. 

You got some general rules, but when it came down to precisely what do 
you do in a particular case, the manual might not provide a precise 
answer. One of the best lessons I ever learned from Mose Morse came 
out of a report review problem that we had. We ended up going into his 
office saying that the way the staff wanted to handle the problem 
seemed to be very sensible. We pointed out, however, that doing it that 
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Interview With Donald J. Horan, Eugene Pahl, 
and Allen R. Voss, May 14,199l 

Mr. Grosshans 

way conflicted with our policy. Mose replied, “Well, if it makes sense, it 
is our policy.” [Laughter] 

We just hadn’t spelled it out quite that precisely. But if you analyzed the 
situation and determined that it was the right thing to do under those 
circumstances, it was our policy. I’ve carried that with me ever since, 
and a lot of the policy guidance and a lot of the report review issues 
involve trying to apply a general set of rules to a precise situation. You 
can always fall back on the question, “Is it something we can defend as 
being the right thing to do under these circumstances?” If so, I’m not 
worried about its being in conflict with our policy. That becomes an 
interpretation of our policy. 

That’s interesting; the same issues are surfacing today+ For example, the 
multidisciplined staff creates some of the terminology problems. You 
alluded to *‘preliminary survey,” which has a meaning completely dif- 
ferent in some disciplines from the meaning of the term as it is used in 
GAO. Currently, we’re using “job design” and “data gathering and anal- 
ysis” to overcome some of those concerns. 

Policies Guiding GAO’s 
Work 

Dr. Trask 

Mr. PahI 

Mr. Voss 

I’d like to raise some questions relating to policies affecting the conduct 
of GAO'S work, policies that guide the GAO staff both in its work with 
agencies and in internal operations. First of all, in relation to agencies, 
accounting and auditing policy and systems development policy became 
the responsibility of AAPS in 1956. I think that in a way, that staff was 
partially a replacement for the old Accounting Systems Division. That is 
reflected in the fact that Frese came over from that job to be at least the 
first Director of the new staff. Another emphasis of the new Policy staff 
appeared to be that GAO staff should focus on deficiencies in agencies 
during GAO audits Do you have any comments on these questions? 

Didn’t these changes stem from Mr. Campbell? 

When I came in 1958, we did accounting work, we did accounting sys- 
tems work, and we did auditing. The old, big comprehensive audits that 
we used to do were already going by the wayside. Honestly speaking, 
nobody wanted to do the accounting systems work that we did. They 
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weren’t getting any credit for that type of work. They weren’t issuing 
any reports to the Congress for that kind of work. No matter how much 
lip service was paid to it by the General Accounting Office right to the 
top, we weren’t doing much accounting systems work, and when we did 
it, we used the lowest level of staff we had to do it. 

Dr. Trask 

Mr.Voss 

Dr. Track 

Didn’t Campbell partly contribute to that himself? Even though he had 
an accounting and business background, he didn’t seem to be much 
interested in that. 

He was not interested in that kind of work. By the way, Mose was very 
interested in that kind of work. I think that probably right to the last 
day he worked in the General Accounting Office, he was always inter- 
ested in the accounting and accounting systems work, and he made 
statements to that effect time and time again. For example, he’d say, 
“How come these reports don’t have more accounting information in 
them?” But he never pushed the issue to the point where he said “Either 
you put it in, or it doesn’t go.” That’s the only way you were going to get 
that kind of information in those reports. 

I met Joseph Campbell only twice in a small group-in one-on-one or 
one-on-four meetings. He was interested in getting reports out quickly, 
he was interested in hitting soft spots, and we all agreed that was where 
we should really put our resources. We agreed in GAO that we had only a 
certain amount of resources and we should put them in those areas 
where they would do the most good. The most good in those days was 
considered to be to issue reports to the Congress that would show defi- 
ciencies in agency operations and that would bring about corrections. 

That is what Joseph Campbell wanted. And if you talked to Mose, he 
never said we shouIdn’t do that, so we did do that. Bob Rasor wanted it, 
A. T. Samuelson wanted it, the Defense Division wanted it, and that’s 
the way we went. Accounting systems work really went down the tubes. 
You didn’t get promotions if you were doing accounting systems work, 
and you didn’t get any pats on the back. If you don’t get those things, 
you don’t attract a staff. 

I think we’re going to refer to the Holifield hearings later on, but what 
you’re saying is perhaps that this policy contributed to the problems 
that developed, particularly in the Defense Division and on defense con- 
tract work. 
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Mr. voss 

Dr. Trask 

Mr. Horam 

Mr. Pahl 

Mr. Eschwege Was there at least some encouragement on the part of Policy to do this 
innovative work without specifying how and what you should do? 

Mr. Pahl I don’t recall that. 

Mr. Horan Well, the whole mentality was to find problems and hit them very hard 
and be very specific about who might be responsible. If you didn’t have 
a deficiency, you virtually didn’t have a report and you just dropped the 
report or you went on and either looked a little further in that area or 
you moved to some other area, where you could find a deficiency. 

We would be more concerned about a positive report coming through 
that said, “We made a review of this operation and found everything 
great,” because we were afraid that the audit staff hadn’t found every- 
thing, We didn’t want to see that in a report, because 6 months later The 
Washington Post might pick up all kinds of deficiencies in the very a= 
that we had cleared. I still think it’s better to use your resources where 
you’re going to get the most bang for the buck. 

What about policies that applied to GAO staff regarding the different 
types of audits it did-the financial audits, the so-called comprehensive 
audits, and later on the program results reviews and the evaluations of 
programs? What role did Policy play in the development of this kind of 
guidance? 

Well, I’ll give you my perception. The policy really wasn’t out in front 
influencing the kind of work that we were doing. We weren’t issuing 
directives and policy guidance in a way that would shift the nature of 
the work that GAO did. Policy tended to follow successful practice. 
Things that were innovative and successful tended to become GAO 
policy. We were expected to look for those sorts of things and endorse 
and support them. I think that’s probably a very practical and effective 
way to develop policy. To have somebody sitting in a policy office trying 
to move this organization in certain ways just doesn’t work. Policy has 
to be developed according to specific assignments that turn out well, and 
then the organization tends to say, “Gee, make sure you do more of this 
because that one worked well, and we can support that.” 

It actually was left up to the Assistant Directors at the audit sites, as I 
recall, to do pretty much as they pleased under Mr. Samuelson’s direc- 
tion, without any input from Policy. 
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Mr. Voss I don’t recall anything that specific that said we should be putting our 
resources into management-type reviews or financial-type reviews or 
single-finding-type reviews. But if you think about it, you’ll see that the 
Civil Division was way behind the Defense Division in those days, those 
days being between like 1956 or 1958 and 1965. It was still doing some 
of those big jobs that took a considerable amount of time, while the 
Defense Division was splitting its jobs down into very small segments 
and single pieces of contracts. For example, reviewing work under an 
amendment to a contract might constitute a whole job. And the Civil 
Division was still out there auditing the Forest Service, so 2 or 3 years 
later, it got a report out on the audit of the Forest Service. 

Around the early 1960s the Civil Division began to see what was hap- 
pening on the other side, and it would split some of its reports, Instead 
of one report, it would begin to issue three, four, or five. The good part 
was that when 1965 came, of course, the Civil Division didn’t yet 1 ave 
too many of those single-finding reports and therefore was not too much 
involved in the Holifield hearings, They affected primarily the Defense 
Division, but we in Policy believed that doing smaller jobs resulted in 
good stuff going out of the Office. As long as the reports were support- 
able, we thought they were great. 

Mr. Pahl 

Mr. Voss Poor Rasor got blamed for everything over there. 

Mr, Horart Well, refunding was the only way that the government could really 
recapture any money from contractors when the case was so egregious 
that it just seemed that the government had been wronged, and quite 
often the contractors themselves were saying, “Gee, this was a mistake” 
or, perhaps just for public relations purposes, “We want to give this 
money back to the Congress.” So I think there was a rationale that said, 
“Well, why not at least ask for it, even though the government doesn’t 
have a contractual right for it ?” The law was changed later where the 
government actually had a contractual right to obtain such refunds 
[Public Law 87-653, the Truth in Negotiations Act]. 

Of course, wasn’t there encouragement on seeking voluntary refunds 
from contractors? I remember several Assistant Directors on the civil 
side saying to me when I was assigned to the Program and Report 
Review staff of the Civil Division, “Why did you add this recommenda- 
tion to get a refund?” and the answer was, “That’s the only way I can 
get it through Bob Rasor.” Now whether it was Rasor or Mr. Morse, I 
don’t know* 
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Dr. Trask Don, something that you said earlier causes me to bring up some policies 
for managing the assignments that did come about maybe in the 1970s. 
One example I’m thinking of is the teams approach, which became quite 
controversial. Maybe that was an example of something that was initi- 
ated by management and Policy rather than being a reaction to the way 
GAO was doing the work. I think partly it was, but was that an example 
of approaching it the other way? 

Mr. Horan 

Mr. Voss 

I’m not sure I really know the origin of the teams concept, but what I’ve 
heard is that it stemmed from a number of things, including the timeli- 
ness issue-how long it takes to get products out-something with 
which we seem to have always had a problem. The other issue that came 
up is whether we were using our resources efficiently. We asked, “Were 
people being productively employed, or were they sitting around or 
having multiple layers of review? Were there better ways that manage- 
ment consultants or CPA firms and others in related work were using 
that might be usefully applied to GAO?” 

I understand Mr. Staats wanted to get the effort off the ground. He did 
that through an organization of division heads to try to stimulate a 
desire to change the traditional ways that GAO had been doing things. As 
you know, he set up a task force that recommended the teams concept, 
and that did not work out. It was not accepted by the organization. 

The Office of Policy role, though, I think was fairly small. I was a 
member of the task force, but I was there primarily as a resource person 
to the division heads and the Regional Managers that were working on 
the problem. They raised questions about current policies and about 
where we might change them without affecting the work quality. For 
example, if changes were to be made in referencing or in the number of 
reviews required, they would have to be worked into the policy guid- 
ance. But I don’t think the Office of Policy played a very significant role 
in the whole teams approach. 

The teams, lead region, or project manager concepts were designed to 
address major concerns of the CG. One was the timeliness of reporting; 
he felt these various ways of doing the jobs would help make reporting 
more timely. Also, the regional offices, as expressed in their Regional 
Managers’ meeting, wanted to have more responsibility in jobs from 
beginning to end. They felt they had the resources to do that kind of 
work, such as work done under the lead region concept, and that they 
could do it faster and would subject the draft report to fewer reviews. 
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Mr. Grosshans 

Mr. Pahl 

Dr. Trask 

Mr. Pal-11 

Mr. Voss 

At the beginning, I thought the concepts were good but they didn’t work 
out well. Before we knew it, every job became a lead region or a project 
manager or a team job. We didn’t have that many project managers in 
GAO. We didn’t have that many people who could be lead region people. 
It was a good thing, but it was too good a thing, I guess. Everybody 
wanted to do this kind of work. I don’t know what is happening today in 
this regard, but I don’t think the teams concept ever really got off the 
ground. 

Part of the problem was the implementation of the concept. I think the 
concept was a good one, to be used when it made sense. We tried to 
realign more closely the field resources with headquarters. 

I think the problem arose when we tried to implement it by saying every 
job had to be a teams job. As you pointed out, there weren’t enough 
qualified team leaders. Another issue surfaced: sufficient capability at 
headquarters to manage the jobs in that particular way. Of course, the 
concept also raised questions about the regional prerogatives and roles. 

While the concept itself was a proper one for the time, the commitment 
and adequate implementation were lacking. 

I think we erred at both ends. The regions wanted more of it, and Wash- 
ington wanted to make more use of it. 

I’d like to raise just one more question about one of the activities of the 
Office of Policy in those years, and that was its review of comments on 
proposed legislation. How much time or how many resources were 
devoted to that, and how did Policy run this activity? 

I thought that was left up to the audit divisions. I thought the audit 
staff, like those assigned to the Interior or Agriculture audit, got 
involved in comments on proposed legislation. 

Well, early on, we were not allowed to comment on legislation unless we 
could tie our comments to a specific report that had been sanctioned by 
GAO, in other words, released. That was very simple. We never had any 
tremendous amount of comments on legislation. And when we did, all 
we had to do was go through a referenced report that had been released 
and we could tie our comments in. 

But that began to change under Elmer Staats, who thought we should do 
more of this kind of work. GAO staffs began to draft up some pretty 
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Mr. Pahl 

Mr. Voss 

heavy comments on legislation that represented, in many cases, the 
views of some grade 14s or 15s down on the job site as to how big pro- 
grams should be run by the government. Some of those draft comments 
were very good, but GAO couldn’t support what was being said at that 
time. 

So for a period of time, we devoted a lot of resources that we didn’t get 
any fruits from because those comments never went out of GAO, but 
early on, submitting comments was no problem at all. Our comments on 
legislation were pretty simple, and they were easily tied to a published 
report. If we couldn’t tie them in, we couldn’t make comments. On a lot 
of bills, we had no comments. 

Well, there were no official comments, but oftentimes weren’t there com- 
ments by our staff people, including our lawyers, to the staff people on 
the committees and subcommittees? 

There were a lot of unofficial comments by GAO staff people in meeting 
with congressional staff people. Absolutely. I got involved in those 
personally. 

Dr. Track But there weren’t many official comments sent up in the 19708 

Mr. Voss Well, I think that yes, when we got into the 1970s we began to loosen up 
a little bit on what we could say on bills, especially when requested by a 
committee chairman. 

Dr. Trask Did Policy routinely review those comments? 

Mr. Voss Yes, up until 1974. 

Mr. Horan And beyond, I think. 

Reporting Policies 

Mr. Eschwege We’ve talked a little bit about reporting policies, but I’d like to get into 
this area a little further. Of all the manuals that were available, the 
Report Manual was the one the staff read. It was used for and against 
certain comments that were made on our reports. I think it was the 
Bible-that’s what we called it unofficially-for getting reports out. 
Also, as I already indicated, it was an instrument of disagreement and 
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Mr. Pahl 

Dr. Trask 

some strife over the years. But it was heavily oriented-and correct me 
if I’m wrong-toward making reports to the Congress. The level of 
reporting always seemed to be very important, The word was out that 
we should address our reports to the Congress, because they didn’t 
count for very much if they were addressed to officials at lower levels. 
And I don’t mean just to a member of the Congress; I mean to the Con- 
gress as a whole. And possibly they should be resulting from what we 
would call self-initiated work rather than from congressionally 
requested work. 

Let’s talk about the level of reporting that was advocated by Policy, And 
then, coupled with that, there was a way of bypassing Policy if you 
addressed reports to officials at a lower level. I’m not saying it was 
“legal,” because you still were supposed to submit a report to Policy for 
review if it was sensitive or important, but then again you ran up 
against a Catch-22. If it was sensitive or very important, why address it 
to someone at a lower level? Any comments on that? 

Can I make a first comment? The policy on the level of reporting didn’t 
stem from Policy. It stemmed from the audit staffs. Everybody wanted 
to get out a Group I [congressional] report. I think that for a long time, 
our staffs wanted to get a report out and the emphasis was not pri- 
marily on getting corrective action. 

Al and I were talking about my early experience in AEC. We had a man 
on the staff, Adrian White, who didn’t believe in reporting, but he got an 
awful lot of action out of AEC and got things corrected. Hardly anybody 
in GAO knew about what Adrian was doing until they put together the 
annual significant audit findings report, and Adrian would come in, not 
with any reports, but with a stack of cards this high showing less formal 
action being taken to improve AEC activities. 

1 thought that was an awfully good approach, but it seemed like every- 
body eIse wanted to get out a Group I report. They fought like mad for a 
Group I report, and as far as I know from my experience, Policy didn’t 
encourage it. If somebody came in from the D.C. government audit staff 
reporting on a trash removal truck problem, I tried to say that was a 
Group II report [a report addressed to the agency]. The answer I got was, 
“Well, no, there’s an interest in the Congress, so let’s make it a Group I” 
or “There may be an interest.” 

Just for the record, could you define a Group I and a Group II report? 
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Mr. Voss 

Mr. Pahl A Group I report would be addressed to the Congress, a committee of the 
Congress, or a member of the Congress and would be signed by the CG. A 
Group II report would be one signed by a division director going to an 
agency head, and a Group III report would be addressed to a lower-level 
official in an agency, such as a Regional Manager. 

Everybody wanted to get out a Group I report, and everyone fought like 
mad to do this. So this push stemmed from the ranks and not from the 
Office of Policy. 

Well, it stemmed maybe from the ranks, but I think it stemmed still from 
the fact that the Assistant Directors looked around at who was being 
promoted and on what basis promotions were given. Let’s face it. When 
I would write someone up to be promoted from a grade 13 to a 14 or a 14 
to a 15, what was part of the justification? I would stress the number of 
reports he had issued to the Congress. I wouldn’t try to highlight the 
number of reports he issued to the Assistant Secretary of Agriculture. 
The number of Group I reports issued was the key for getting promoted 
in the divisions. 

I don’t care whether you were in the Civil Division or the Defense Divi- 
sion. Especially, once you got above a grade 12, if you weren’t instru- 
mental in issuing reports to the Congress, it was pretty difficult for a 
supervisor to write up a promotion and expect it to succeed, especially 
during Comptroller General Campbell’s time. Every promotion went 
across his desk with the sick leave schedule and with the write-up for 
what this person had been doing. 

One of the reasons people didn’t want to go into staff positions was that 
staff in such positions didn’t help issue reports to the Congress. It was 
pretty tough to get a promotion without issuing reports to the Congress. 
At one point, the only criterion I remember that Policy provided, and 
that was oral, was to the Defense Division, We said, “Don’t send us 
reports that have findings of less than $100,000.” That was sort of an 
unwritten figure. We were beginning to get reports in there of $28,000 
findings, and they were going to the Congress. We discussed this matter 
with Bob Rasor and agreed that there had to be some dollar figure in the 
report, especially if it contained just one finding and there were no man- 
agement problems. So we said, “Don’t send them through here unless 
they have $100,000 findings,” regarding deficiencies, recoveries, the 
screwups, or whatever the report might have covered. 
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Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss 

I don’t remember any policy going out formally. We just said that a 
report should be a substantive report if it was going to the Congress. 
What’s substantive? Anything of interest to the Congress. I remember 
that as Director of Policy, I used to have to write a memorandum to 
Elmer Staats on every report that he was to sign. Where, for example, 
there was a difference of view with the Division Director as to whether 
the report should go to the Congress, I was supposed to put in there, “I 
don’t believe you should sign this report” or “1 do agree; you should sign 
this report,” There was a lot more than one occasion where I said, 
“Don’t sign it,” yet he said the report was great, or where I said, “Do 
sign it,” and he would say, “I won’t sign it.” [Laughter] 

So, you know, it depends on the individual’s judgment as to what is sub- 
stantive and what is not. In fact, a Division Director told me one time, 
“Al, don’t put the memorandums through saying ‘Sign it.’ Every time 
you say that, he knocks it back to me, and he won’t sign it.” [Laughter] 

I’d like to add that I don’t think we normally got to see these memoran- 
dums at the division or staff level. 

You did if I took issue with the report. This was after 1971, when Policy 
became a separate office. If I took issue with the report going to the CG, 

you got a copy of that memorandum. In fact, you usually got a copy 
before I sent the other one forward. 

Well, I can remember getting only one or two. Maybe that’s all I had. 
[Laughter] 

We didn’t put that in a letter very often, Henry. We had to have a pretty 
strong view that Staats should not sign a report. We had one report 
coming out of a particular division where I said it shouldn’t be signed, 
Mose said it shouldn’t be signed, the Division Director’s Assistant Comp- 
troller General said it shouldn’t be signed, and Keller said it shouldn’t be 
signed. We met in Keller’s office, and Keller told the Director, “You’ve 
got all these people against you. Do you really want Elmer Staats to rule 
on this?” The answer was yes. Of course, he lost, but he still wanted to 
go through with it. 

Elmer Staats, I thought, was a person with whom the Division Directors 
felt they could still get their day in court, no matter who objected to a 
report. 
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Mr. Eschwege Let’s talk about another favorite subject that has taken on additional 
concern over the years, and that is referencing of reports. Perhaps the 
term also needs to be explained first, because, as we found out in later 
years with people with other disciplines coming to GAO, it meant some- 
thing quite different to them from what it meant to us who had an 
accounting background. 

From the first day that you were in Policy, did you always push that 
referencing very diligently and strongly, and was there any change in 
that? What has been your experience? 

Mr. voss 

Mr. fahl 

Mr. voss 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss 

Well, regarding your comment about “pushing” referencing, we insisted 
in Policy that reports had to be referenced. We expected every line in a 
report to be referenced, depending on what that line or sentence said. If 
it said that “Somebody told me this,” we expected the working papers to 
have an interview with somebody that had said that. And later on in the 
process, if it was a crucial “Somebody told me this,” we expected the 
person that told the auditor that to have signed the paper, or if it was 
not signed, we sent a copy of that page to that person to get him or her 
to sign it. Regarding dates, dates had to be referenced in very specific 
documents that said, “This is the date of the document.” Referencing the 
conclusions merely came from the flow of the facts that went before the 
conclusions. 

Yes, we expected all these statements of facts or evidence to be refer- 
enced to the very specific working papers that contained that evidence. I 
don’t know if that answers your question at all. 

Of course, we expected referencing to be done, but we didn’t do anything 
to check up on it. 

No, we didn’t review it until the’office of Internal Review [OIR] came into 
existence. It made a review of just how this process was working, but 
the reviewers and the Office of Policy didn’t go out and review the refer- 
encing process. 

I remember the Regional Managers’ Conference in Boston, where Lloyd 
Smith revealed the results of his review of referencing. Do you recall 
that? 

I recall that. I was at Boston at that Regional Managers’ Conference. I 
was a Regional Manager. 
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Mr. Eschwege I don’t recall whether the manual was changed in any way. 

Mr. Horan I don’t recall any change in the manual. 

Mr. Voss I have a feeling Mose said, “The way that Smith’s review has revealed 
that referencing should be done is the way that the manual says it 
should be done.” [Laughter] 

The bad part of OIR was that in part it was auditing the activities of 
Mose’s office, but it was also organizationally reporting to Mose. OIR was 
placed at the highest level practicable but not at the head of the agency 
[the CG level] and I always felt that was not a good situation in those 
types of audits. 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Pahl 

Mr. Eschwege 

It concerned us a little bit also because we were so adamant at one time 
about having that internal audit function in the departments and agen- 
cies report to the very top. I think that, over time, we have changed that 
and bent a little bit with respect to the level of reporting. I had some bad 
experience with an internal audit in one agency, where the payroll func- 
tion that was under the Assistant Secretary for Administration was 
audited by the internal auditors who reported also to him; the report 
never saw the light of day. So that was the fear of positioning auditors 
at a lower level. 

I think even Mose said that was the fear of having Lloyd reporting to 
him, but I don’t believe we changed any policies on the basis of Lloyd 
Smith’s reviews while I was Director of Policy, because there was 
nothing wrong with the policies. There was just something wrong with 
the practices. 

I hear people saying that staff from disciplines other than accounting 
had a problem with understanding referencing as we did it. I wonder 
how they looked at referencing. 

As I understand it, you do your doctor’s thesis or master’s thesis or you 
write a book, and the referencing consists of footnotes and the bibliog- 
raphy in the back. That leads you back to the phrase or statement of a 
certain document or report so that the reader of that doctor’s thesis or 
book can actually go to the source. Our referencing simply went to the 
workpapers. In the early days, we referenced mostly the numbers, and 
later on, other things-like you said, interviews. We did have some safe- 
guards and we still do. We wanted two people at that interview if it 
involved a crucial statement, and we had them sign our write-up of that 
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interview. Also, the quality of referencing depended a lot on a good 
management review of the workpapers, which I guess was a policy, too, 
but which I didn’t always find being observed. 

But referencing did create some problems, because we may not have 
explained too well to the people that came to GAO who were not account- 
ants what we really meant by the term “referencing,” and maybe they 
couldn’t understand the manual. 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Horan 

When I was in GGD, I had some pretty sharp people that didn’t have a 
background in accounting. They had a background in taxes, for instance. 
I had a lady who worked for Dick Fogel in the tax area, and she had a 
lot of views about taxes. I had another person in the intergovernmental 
relations area, who had a lot of knowledge and a lot of views about how 
federal, state, and local people should be working with each other. 
Those views found their ways into reports because these people were 
supposedly experts. But there was no evidence that supported those 
views, except they would say, “These are my views.” 

I think they had a problem with the kind of evidence we felt we needed 
to support conclusions and recommendations. They felt they were 
experts; they didn’t need to gather all kinds of evidence to prove that a 
conclusion was an acceptable conclusion; therefore, the recommendation 
was acceptable. In GGD, I insisted that the policy of the Office be fol- 
lowed, but I don’t know that that’s the case today, because you’re get- 
ting into more and more areas that may require people who have a 
fantastic background or expertise and whose views may be accepted. 

Part of the difficulty, I think, from my experience, was that the people 
from the other disciplines had a problem with the generalist-auditor- 
accountant person checking some of the data that they had pulled 
together. They would have less of a problem if there was an indepen- 
dent person from their discipline doing it, because that independent 
person would understand the implications of their data or statements. 
The accountant could only read it and say, “Well, it says this,” but the 
expert said, “Well, that means something different.” 

I think that’s where part of the problem was, where we were just pulling 
a grade 12 or 13 in and saying, “Look at this engineer’s workpapers,” 
and to some extent there was a communication difficulty. A lot of time 
went into trying to satisfy the referencer. In some cases, findings went 
down the drain or a lot of time went by, the reports were watered down, 
and there was a lot of controversy. I think that to some extent, we tried 
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Mr. Grosshans 

Mr. Pahl 

Mr. Eschwege 

to address that with the selective referencing policy. I believe that came 
out of the teams task force. 

One of the procedures to speed up certain reports was to have decisions 
made that parts of the report would be only selectively referenced and 
reader panels, outside experts, or others might be used to confirm that 
the conclusions logically flowed or that the mathematics involved was 
appropriate, 

Wasn’t there another issue also, Don? They felt they were experts in 
their areas, and they had already checked their sources and validated 
them. They would say, “Why do we need somebody else? Don’t you trust 
me?” I think that feeling played a role as well. I think we’ve overcome 
some of those problems. If people understand that referencing is really 
an independent type of check and are given a proper explanation, the 
process is a little more readily acceptable than if we are just saying, 
“Well, the fact that you put it together isn’t sufficient; we still need 
somebody else to make sure that’s right.” I think there’s a certain 
amount of individual pride involved. 

Yes, but I felt awfully naked sometimes. I’ve had some reports issued 
without referencing. People drafted them and I reviewed them and 
rewrote them. Division Directors looked at them, and there was no refer- 
encing. There was no assurance that we weren’t a little biased or let our 
personal feelings creep in. 

Well, one thing that I think puts the fear into people these days is that 
we have so many hearings and we always have to go back to the 
workpapers in preparing for those hearings. We’ve got to be sure that 
our backup books are right. I think the field staff have more of a part in 
making sure that things are right. They no longer just wash their hands 
of those workpapers and first drafts as they come into Washington and 
let Washington handle the rest. They know they can be called back to 
the hearings in Washington and sit there at the table with the head of 
the division or even the CG and have to defend what it is they had in the 
workpapers. 

Of course, we have the PAQRS [Post Assignment Quality Review System] 
review now, which gets into how well all the work is done in the field 
and in Washington. 

There was one thing that bothered me with respect to the referencing, 
and I’m not sure Policy was always able to fully address it. We had a 
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provision that the guy who was the referencer had to be independent, 
and he had to be at least a grade 12. From what I saw, selection of a 
referencer often came down to who was available at the point in time to 
do the referencing, It wasn’t always the person that was the best suited 
to be the referencer. Rather it could have been the person who was 
really not too important to run the next job but could do the referencing. 
In fact, some places had permanent referencers. I always thought that 
referencing was important enough to make sure that you got a good 
person, although we didn’t always accomplish it ourselves. 

Mr. voss 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss 

Dr. Trask 

I would have hated to be a permanent referencer. That would have been 
a terrible job to perform for any length of time. 

You were almost a permanent Policy man. [Laughter] 

I know you’re trying to connect that comment to referencing somehow, 
but I’m not going to let you. [Laughter] 

Henry, I would like to inject something about referencing. I came to GAO 

4 years ago after writing a number of books and articles, but “refer- 
encing” was a new term to me. I had to ask what that meant. And when 
it was defined for me, I knew that that’s what I had been doing during 
my whole career. You know, historians and other scholars have foot- 
notes and bibliographies; I don’t think we tend to reference every sen- 
tence, but any good historical work or work in other disciplines will 
have footnotes to back up what is said. I think probably scholars in 
various disciplines have a little bit more leeway than GAO does in terms 
of reports, Basically, I think it’s a matter of terminology. 

When the new evaluators come in, I give them a little talk about history, 
and the first thing I say to them is that really they, as evaluators, are 
going to be operating basically as historians do, because they are 
assigned a problem, they look into the background, they investigate the 
topic, they or somebody else will write a report, and it will be refer- 
enced. I use the term “referenced,” which means that there’s going to be 
an independent check to determine whether there is evidence to back up 
this report, ultimately it’s going to be reviewed by somebody, and then 
the final product will be issued. And that’s basically the way historians 
work. 

So for people from these other disciplines who came in, the problem may 
have been a problem more of terminology than anything else. 
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Mr. Horan Just as important, though, as having your material independently 
checked by somebody is the discipline that you just described, of the 
writers organizing their evidence and cross-referencing the draft and 
checking it out themselves. To prepare oneself for a referencer to check 
a report out, a staffer has got to do just what you described. So pre- 
paring for referencing does instill a sense of discipline in the staff in 
writing things and a consciousness of the importance of having satisfac- 
tory evidence to satisfy a referencer. And that’s very important. 

Mr. Grosshans 

Dr. Trask 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss 

Roger’s memory is failing him. We talked about this when he wrote the 
brief history of GAO, which is currently in the production stage, and the 
question came up, “Do we need to reference this?” I raised the question, 
and Roger didn’t think much of that. He thought he had already done 
that, so why would he need independent referencing? [Laughter] 

I didn’t forget that, but I didn’t feel that I wanted to bring it up. 
[Laughter] 

I think you have put your finger on one of the problems. Scholars don’t 
like to be checked up on, and they feel that they’ve done a very thor- 
ough job. And why should a less experienced person or somebody who’s 
not in that particular discipline be checking up on them? There is a kind 
of natural resentment to that, but I don’t think it’s appropriate in GAO. I 
didn’t admit I was convinced by your argument, but I repeat, I really 
think it’s more a problem of terminology. 

I’d like to cover one last point that has been a bone of contention up on 
the Hill with some people, As far as I can remember, GAO always had the 
general policy, with exceptions, to get advance comments on draft 
reports from affected parties, including third parties who were outside 
the governmental system-contractors, state governments, and others. 
Can you tell us how that policy was fostered and applied over the years, 
discuss any changes that were made in terms of written versus oral com- 
ments, and explain how the policy was observed by the staff? 

The big change I can remember concerned obtaining written comments. 
We used to issue reports in draft. They would go to the heads of the 
agencies, and 6 months later they’d come back with a big chunk of com- 
ments on that report. The auditors would take the comments and either 
rebut them or change whatever it was they were trying to say in the 
reports. Sometimes, at least half a report would go down the tubes as a 
result of the comments, so we used to issue a report that had no likeness 
to the draft report. But we still issued the comments in total, and if you 
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Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss 

Mr, PahI 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss 

read the comments, you wouldn’t even know what report these com- 
ments were on. 

So the change we made was that those aspects of the comments that no 
longer were relevant to the report would be deleted. We thought that 
would be very good. But then we began to run into problems. We got all 
these white spots on every page of the comments bound into the report 
where we had made deletions. So that didn’t look so good. Yet we had to 
give the agencies the opportunity to comment on the drafts, and we had 
to include the relevant comments officially in the reports. I don’t know 
what we ended up doing about that. 

And I guess that also generated the concern up on the Hill as to whether 
agencies were able to frighten us into deleting important findings that 
we felt needed to be reported to the Congress. 

Actually, we had a lot of comments from the Hill on that. They would 
say, “What are you guys knocking out of these report drafts?” Then 
they wanted to see the report drafts. I don’t know how that finally got 
resolved, but it was a mess there for a number of years. 

Wasn’t there a time when drafts would go out for comment before they 
had division reviews, but later, like on the civil side, were reviewed by 
Roy Gerhardt before they went out for comments? I think that practice 
helped greatly in avoiding substantial changes as a result of advance 
comments. 

It may have, but we still had a lot of problems, even after all kinds of 
reviews. We had 18 levels of review, and we still had a lot of problems. 

Don or Werner can update us on what the problem is today, if any. 

I still think getting advance comments is one of the best safeguards we 
have on reports that are being issued where they’re likely to be covered 
in the newspapers or are going to the Congress. Having comments from 
an agency; a contractor; federal, state, or local people; or whoever is 
involved and can be adversely affected is vital. 

Mr. Eschwege And at times, such comments signal to GAO the corrective action that is 
being taken so that we can report that agencies have done what we 
asked them to do. 
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Mr. Horan I’ll try to update you on this dilemma. It was almost automatic in the 
early days that virtually every final report had to include written com- 
ments. I can’t even remember that in those early years we put out a 
report where we did not have written comments. There may have been 
one or two, but it hardly ever happened. 

As part of trying to solve the timeliness issue and as we started growing 
into doing more work specifically requested by committees and mem- 
bers, the demand came for speeding up this advance comments process. 
I recall that at one time, we used to give the agencies 60 days to provide 
comments on our draft reports. Either through legislation or policy 
change, we reduced that time to 30 days. Even that was not enough, 
particularly for some of the more urgent kinds of issues where congres- 
sional requesters wanted to hold hearings or wanted to move very 
quickly on something. They couldn’t wait even 30 days for comments, 
particularly if the comments were controversial. In such cases, we 
would need to spend another 45 or 60 days evaluating them and getting 
the report out. 

So more and more, the requesters kept asking us to forgo sending draft 
reports out for official comment. We concluded that we needed to have 
at least oral comments to be obtained in some kind of exit conference, 
where we could be comfortable that we had verified the accuracy of the 
facts and had some indication of the agencies’ reaction so we could take 
that into account in preparing reports. We would disclose in the reports, 
however, the fact that we hadn’t given the agencies a chance to submit 
written comments because the requesters had directed us not to do this. 

Mr. Pahl 

Mr. Horan 

But even when we asked for written comments, we always had exit con- 
ferences, I thought, and as part of the audits, we had to have exit 
conferences. 

Well, it’s amazing to me that people come away characterizing exit con- 
ferences by saying, “Boy, they bought everything we said, and we had a 
wonderful session” and that then they would send the draft over to 
Policy and Policy said the agencies hadn’t agreed with anything. So 
there is a danger that GAO is accepting too much risk by not going this 
formal comments route, because quite often either we have the wrong 
people at the exit conferences or, in some ways, the findings presented 
at the exit conferences are characterized as less critical than the actual 
reading of the draft reports would convey. So sometimes we are 
exposing ourselves to risk. We have to be very careful on that, and it’s a 
problem even today. 
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Mr. Pahl I remember one case where we had an agency comment that said the GAO 

draft report was attacking a policy implementation, but the agency com- 
mented that it did not have that policy. I think, Don, you caught that 
one in a housing report, and it got all the way up to our level. The audit 
division hadn’t recognized and addressed the agency comments, 

Mr. Horan 

Mr. Voss 

Quite a bit of the report review in those days had to do with how well 
we had evaluated and rebutted the agency comments. Quite often we 
would read the report, and we’d say, “Gee, this looks like a pretty good 
finding.” And then we would get to the appendix where we had included 
the agency’s letter, and we would find something in there that really 
raised some serious doubt about our position. If it hadn’t been specifi- 
cally addressed, it led to a report review comment. In many cases, we 
did have an explanation or a good rebuttal, and that made the report 
that much stronger. But it was a good check for the report reviewer to 
go right to the objections raised by the agency. 

I would think personally that your reports are received and, I hope, con- 
tinue to be received very favorably by people on the Hill that can do 
something about the things you’re finding. I really think comments are 
important on any critical report where you’re taking some strong stands 
against what the agency is or isn’t doing. You can get GAO in a lot of 
trouble if you aren’t careful when you issue the report without agency 
comments on the positions you might take. I still think facts should be 
pretty well-referenced. Facts are facts, but conclusions and recommen- 
dations are what can get an agency upset-very upset, in fact. 

I would hope to see GAO continue with its fine quality work on what it 
finally issues. I know you sometimes have to issue a report when a 
chairman wants it. 

Policy Review of 
Reports 

Mr. Grosshans In the early days, Policy was very much involved in report review, and I 
guess that Policy, to a large extent, was the power base in GAO. If you 
wanted to get something out, you had to go through Policy to get the 
approval. Now, did you do the same type of review on every report, or 
did you have different categories, such as detailed and limited reviews, 
in those days? 
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Mr. Voss When I first went into Policy, every report that was given to me by Bob 
Rasor to review had a complete, detailed review by me, because I knew 
darn well that it was going to get a complete, detailed review by him and 
that there was no exception. It could be even just a financial statement 
report. In fact, I had more trouble with these short reports giving opin- 
ions on financial statements because Rasor had comments, Fred Smith 
had comments, Mose had comments, and the report changed 100 percent 
by the time it got out. But the reviews were complete, in-depth reviews 
and such reviews were done, I would say, until the reorganization in 
1972. 

Mr. Pahl I think these reviews were done through 1975, weren’t they? 

Mr. Voss We kind of cut back a little. At least, the agreement I had with the Divi- 
sion Directors when I met with them after the reorganization-we used 
to have a meeting once every 2 or 3 weeks, or maybe it was once a 
month-was that we would quickly glance at the reports, we would not 
make detailed comments that would have to be addressed, and we might 
even just write in the margin some comments that the staff might wish 
to consider. There might be a little grammar problem, there might be a 
problem with paragraph construction, or there might be a violation of 
some minor policies. But if our problems were substantive, we wanted 
the comments in writing and we wanted them going to the Division 
Directors. 

Mr. Pahl 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Grosshans 

Was that the go/no-go procedure? 

That was when we said the only comments we really would put in 
writing were those comments that would influence a go/no-go decision. 
But that was 1972. I don’t recall before that time where we had much 
flexibility. If you’re thinking about “A” and “By’ comments, that goes 
back in time. Actually, it used to be “R” comments that could not be 
passed; those were Rasor’s comments. Mose used to make the statement 
more than once that every comment that we put into writing and sent 
back to a division would have to be handled. He didn’t care whether it 
was a verb that had to be changed or a title that had to be changed; all 
of them had to be addressed. But everyone knew that people either com- 
plied with an “R” comment or we had to take them in to see Bob Rasor. 

How did you get these points resolved? We’ve looked at some of the let- 
ters that went back to divisions, and I guess we wouldn’t write those 
letters in the same way today. They were pretty direct in their criticism. 
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Mr. Voss You’re talking about reports in the 196Os? 

Mr. Grosshans That’s right. We didn’t pull any punches. When those letters went back 
to the divisions, Policy left no doubt as to whether it liked or disliked 
the reports. 

Mr. Voss I thought they were carefully explained and detailed what was wrong 
with the reports. [Laughter] 

Mr. Grosshans How did you get resolution on some of those points where there was a 
difference of view? 

Mr. Voss In most cases, either the Assistant or Associate Directors came over and 
were able to convince the report reviewers that they ought to back 
down, or the report reviewers would convince the Assistant or Associate 
Directors that they ought to accept the report reviewers’ positions. Most 
cases were amicable. 

There were some cases that were not amicable. Neither side would 
budge. That’s when the matters were referred to Bob Rasor, and he, the 
report reviewer, and the Assistant or Associate Director would discuss 
them. In most cases, Bob Rasor convinced the divisions to accept the 
comments and make the changes. In many cases, he even helped to 
strengthen the reports if the changes were made. He was very positive. 
Even though the letters might not have been positive, he personally was 
very positive in helping to strengthen reports. 

If you couldn’t reach agreement when Campbell headed GAO, very few 
people would want reports to go upstairs. Such differences of opinion 
would become contests with the Division Directors fighting the Director 
of Policy. I offhand don’t remember any report where it got to that 
point. If Mose was willing to go to the mat, Samuelson would almost 
always try to bend over backwards to accommodate him. I don’t think 
Bill Newman and Mose ever went to the mat upstairs. Now, that was not 
true under Staats, A lot of reports went to the mat under Elmer Staats. 

Mr. Grosshans And also the role of Policy started to shift. For example, in the interview 
we had with Monte Canfield, who headed up the Energy and Minerals 
Division [EMD], he stated that a number of those reports went out 
without Policy review. I think he made that very clear, and so did Sam 
[Phillip S.] Hughes [Director of the Office of Federal Elections (OFE) and 
later an Assistant Comptroller General] when we interviewed him. He 
and Mose didn’t necessarily see eye to eye on everything, and obviously 
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there were some “gives” and some experimenting being done during that 
particular period. 

Mr. Voss When OFE under Sam Hughes initially started out, Policy did review its 
reports. Sam headed a very politically explosive organization. I don’t 
know that I would have said this 20 or 15 years ago, but looking back, I 
don’t think anyone right up to the CG wanted to be associated with OFE. 
Sam came to GAO and was kind of put in charge of it. He was the front 
man on issuing the reports, and I don’t even think Elmer Staats wanted 
to be recognized as being a part of OFE. He wanted to get rid of it. 

After a few reviews, we had some picky Policy comments, such as, “You 
didn’t conform to this” or “You didn’t conform to that,” and Sam finally 
said, “Well, I don’t really need this review,” and Staats said, “Yes, I 
guess you really don’t. In fact, you don’t need any review,” 

As for Monte Canfield, he may have gotten some of his reports out, 
going around Policy, but finally EMD had to submit to us all of the 
reports that required a Policy review. Now, I say all, but I’m sure there 
were some where Monte went to Elmer Staats and said, “Look, I’ve got 
this report. This is my baby. I understand it. You don’t need a review. 
We’ll get it out quickly this way.” I’m sure that happened. 

Mr. Grosshans 

Mr. Horan 

Don, contrast for us the type of reviews that we’re talking about here in 
the earlier days with what is being done today. Also, tell us what went 
on in the divisions at that particular time when they had their own 
capability to review reports, You’ve already alluded to Gerhardt and 
some of the review staff in the Civil Division. What was the difference 
between the division and the Policy review? Did each look for different 
things? 

Policy’s review was a much more detailed review in the early days. I 
remember reports on which we would have maybe 100 comments. Some 
of those early ADP reports, I think, had over 100 comments. Many of 
them were very substantive things about the evidence to support posi- 
tions, and a lot of them were not very substantive but involved such 
things as problems with the presentation of findings. The stories didn’t 
always hang together or didn’t make sense, or there sometimes were 
conflicts that we could see in reading the reports, 

The division review was essentially the same kind of review, as I under- 
stand it. Now, Gene and Al know more about the Civil Division review, 
but Roy Gerhardt and his staff pored over these reports before they 
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Mr. Pahl 

Mr. Horan 

Mr. Pahl 

Mr, Grosshans 

Mr. Horan 

ever got to the Office of Policy, and still we would have a lot of 
comments I 

My recollection is that the Defense Division didn’t have much of a cen- 
tral report review. The Associate Directors were pretty much respon- 
sible for reviewing the products. I think somebody in the front office 
might have read the drafts and signed forms transmitting them to 
Policy, but I didn’t get the sense that there was a very extensive report 
review in the Defense Division. 

Certainly, the Civil Division did beautiful review work, but it took too 
much time. They had some Associate Directors who were tremendous 
writers. 

Well, we sometimes found ourselves in conflict with changes that had 
been made at the division level, and then the Policy reviewers would 
say, “Why did you do it that way ?” Then we would hear not only from 
the people that had written the reports but from the division review 
staff. 

Of course, we had to blame somebody. We always blamed it on the other 
guy. ILaughter] 

How about the review that you do today? How does that differ from 
what you were doing in the Policy days when you were there? 

I think the comparable review today is probably at the division level, 
the P&R Director level. As you know, we established a central Office of 
Quality Assurance, separating it from the Office of Policy, and then 
devolved that report review responsibility to the divisions. Very few of 
the reports are now signed by the CG. The determination that he sign a 
report is made in the report review meetings. If the report contains 
something unusual or very significant or controversial or if it will be 
signed by the CG, I get a look at it, but reports are in much better shape 
than anything I can recall in the days that I was a Policy reviewer. 

Basically, I’m sort of confirming in my review that the position is one 
that the CG will feel comfortable with. In some cases, I think, I serve as a 
time-saver by flagging things that I think he should know about person- 
ally and see if he has a comfort level with the way they’ve been han- 
dled. So I think it’s a much different kind of review. 
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Mr. Grosshans Doesn’t he also more frequently have other people read reports? In other 
words, there is a collegial approach to that? In the earlier days, reports 
were more or less funneled through Mose Morse, who was about the 
only checkpoint, wasn’t he? 

Mr. Horan 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Horan 

Mr. Grosshans 

Mr. Pahl It was red so you could identify it quickly. 

Yes. I think we’ve got a much more heavily involved CG. He’s involved at 
the front end of many of these jobs. On a very controversial case, he will 
often have discussions so that he’s knowledgeable about positions 
before they’re converted to report positions. He gets advice from people 
not only around the organization in GAO but from people outside GAO 
who can help him come to a position that he is personally satisfied with. 
So that makes him less of a cold reader at the end than the CG was in 
earlier days. 

There was one other question I just wanted to ask. We in the Division, 
especially after 1972, did look to Policy to make sure that what we had 
in these reports was not inconsistent with reports that our counterparts 
in other divisions were issuing, I think that since we had more divisions 
after 1972, that became a greater concern. I remember talking to Al Voss 
about some inconsistencies that had slipped through with respect to 
positions taken by divisions. 

I suppose, Don, this is probably still one of your concerns today. 

Yes, it’s even more difficult, I think, to have anybody centrally play that 
role with any high degree of assurance. Even in those days, I think, we 
relied more on the corporate memory that had built up by having some 
people in the report review chain who had been around for a long time, 
like Roy Gerhardt in the Civil Division and to some extent Al or me in 
the Office of Policy. Report reviewers tend to remember some of those 
things. We didn’t have an automated system where we could bring the 
positions up and make sure that we were not conflicting. We relied on 
the memories of some people who were involved in reviewing reports. 

We’ve already talked about the Comprehensive Audit Manual being 
issued in 1952 and then reissued in the early 1960s in the multiple 
volumes; these were Black Books. Henry already mentioned the Report 
Manual, which came out separately, and its cover had a different color. 
Was there any significance to the red on the Report Manual? I always 
wondered about that. Does anybody recall? 
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Mr. Grosshans 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Grosshans But Policy’s role was really that of the reviewer? 

Mr. Voss Policy’s review was done at the tail end. I’m sure Don Scantlebury 
[Director, FGMSD] talked to Mose, as the draft was being developed. They 
chatted about a lot of things. When the first draft was put together, 
though, it came in through me to Mose, and there was a substantial revi- 
sion made. 

Mr. Voss All I know is that we had black and we had red, then we had the blue, 
and then we had the green and brown. The colors were different because 
they were different manuals, but I don’t know if anyone said, “Now, this 
should be red because it’s the Report Manual.” 

We’ve talked a little bit about the Red Book, and in the early days, there 
were also the series of the smaller manuals, the brown volumes. One of 
the widely distributed publications was the Yellow Book. The initial 
preparation for that started, I believe, in 1968 and culminated in the 
1971-72 issuance of that first Yellow Book on government auditing 
standards. 

Both of you probably were there in Policy at the time. I was curious as 
to Policy’s role versus FGMSD'S [Financial and General Management 
Studies Division] role. The book was really developed by FGMSD, yet it 
was a policy type of document. What was the history there? Why did it 
come out of FGMSD rather than Policy? 

Well, I guess it came out of FGMSD in draft, because it was felt that FGMSD 
had the resources that could be used to pull this kind of document 
together. The first draft came up sometime after April 197 1. It came 
through me, and I reviewed it. From the standpoint of organization, 
from the standpoint of captions, and from the standpoint of subject 
matter, it ran into a lot of problems, It went in to Mose, and Don, I, and 
Mose talked about this quite a bit. Then it went back to FGMSD. 

A new draft came back up, and it was not much of an improvement over 
the first one. It went in to Mose, and this was one of the times where, 
like Gene says, Mose literally rewrote the draft. He rewrote it to con- 
form with the Comprehensive Audit Manual and the Report Manual. He 
followed those two manuals very closely. The Yellow Book came to be 
known as the Gold Book, I guess, after a while. 
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Timeliness of Reports 

Dr. Trask We’ve already mentioned the efforts to improve quality and the ques- 
tion of timeliness of the reports. Let’s discuss some specific efforts to do 
that. 

First of all, what kind of effort was there through classroom training, 
probably after Leo Herbert came, to deal with questions of quality and 
timeliness? 

Mr. Voss I don’t know about timeliness, but quality was definitely addressed. 
Training on evidence was a big portion of training that was given to our 
new people, especially the kind of evidence that was acceptable to sup- 
port findings. Referencing was covered too at that time so that staff 
could make reports stand on their own with the evidence that they had. 

Timeliness was always something that was talked about. We put out 
memorandums all the time saying that we were not timely and that we 
had to do something about the situation. We had two internal reviews on 
cutting down on the number of reviews so that reports could get out 
faster. Whatever we did, timeliness consistently remained a problem. I 
remember personally reports in the 1970s that had 3 or 4 years of age 
on them before they were released. Jobs would be processed through, 
and we’d be sitting in 1973 and talking about findings in 1969, with no 
updates. Of course, the letter from the agency said, “Oh, we’ve corrected 
all those things,” so the staff had to go back and find out whether the 
agency had corrected all those things. We almost had another audit. 

I guess that when we were very interested in trying to get a product out 
that the CG and the institution of the General Accounting Office would 
back and support, it just took time. It took time to even print them, 
because we had so many reports backed up. It took time to review them. 
It took time to answer agency comments; sometimes it might take 6,8,9 
months to answer. In some cases, we had to go back and do more audit 
work to answer the agency comments. 

I don’t know what the timeliness issue is today, but I understand you 
don’t have the number of reports that go up to the CG for signature. I 
would still imagine that there are a number of reviews to ensure that the 
institution can live with the report and its conclusions and 
recommendations. 
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I’ve always wanted to try to get the review process speeded up. We talk 
about a review by the Directors, Every Division Director had a review 
process when the divisions were reorganized. Henry had a review pro- 
cess over in his division. Vie Lowe had a review process over in GGD. 
These reviews took time. I don’t think Policy’s review itself was a big 
factor in most instances in slowing a report down. I think reviews of a 
draft before it came to Policy took a lot of time; referencing of the draft 
report sometimes could take 2 months. But a report to the Congress that 
was a very substantive report, I think, deserved that kind of attention to 
quality. 

Dr. Trask 

Mr. Voss 

Dr. Trask 

Mr. Voss 

Did the Powers task force in 1967 and the Lowe committee in 1970, 
which you mentioned, result in any practical changes? 

I can guarantee you the Powers and Lowe reports did result in changes. 
Don mentioned 100 comments on some reports. We definitely pulled 
back on the type of comments that we would raise in writing to the divi- 
sions. I don’t want to say that our review became superficial, but it 
wasn’t done in such detail as it used to be prior to 1972. We didn’t read 
every single line. A digest sometimes might be enough, with a little flip 
back looking at some of the evidence supporting what was in the digest. 
If we found that we had problems with that, then we would have to 
start looking at it in more depth. After a while, we got pretty knowl- 
edgeable about the particular subject matter that was coming through so 
that we felt we knew what we had to find in those reports to assure 
ourselves that the staff had supported them. 

Yes, that was a big change, and I met with Division Directors periodi- 
cally, mainly on the civil programs. The divisions that came out of the 
Defense Division didn’t seem to need any further assistance from Policy, 
so I didn’t meet with them very often. I did meet with the Division 
Directors that came out of the Civil Division, and we tried to get 
together and take care of problems before they got to the point where 
nobody would back away. 

Was this less intensive review a problem for Morse? How did he feel 
about that? 

No, I don’t think it was a problem for Mose. I really don’t. Mose was 
much more of a picky reviewer than anyone that I have ever met in the 
General Accounting Office. When he reviewed a report, he did get down 
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to grammar and everything else in that report. But I don’t think Mose 
had any problem at all when it was finally agreed that this is the way 
we should be reviewing reports. 

I have to admit, you know, that they used to run off thousands of copies 
of these reports before we even reviewed them. This was with the hopes 
we wouldn’t raise picky comments. Sometimes we had reports down 
there in Printing that weren’t bound yet and on which changes had to be 
made, so we’d have to reprint 10 pages for 2,000 reports. 

I think the reorganization in 1972 resulted in a Policy review that was a 
good review but did not get into picky comments. 

Expanding the Policy 
Role 

Mr. Eschwege Shortly after Mr. Staats came in- it must have been one of his first 
acts-he renamed the office the Office of Policy and Special Studies and 
apparently added to the pure policy function what I would call a 
research and experimentation group in ADP, systems analysis, and so on. 
Did you people get involved in that, or was that sort of separate from 
you? 

Mr. Voss Elmer Staats wanted to bring in people from other disciplines, and he 
felt that to try to do this by integrating them into the two divisions- 
Civil Division and Defense Division-just would not work immediately. 
So Mose agreed to take the people that he wanted to bring in; I’m 
thinking especially of the systems analysts like Keith Marvin and Dan 
Rathbun. 

Some of these people came out of the old Department of Defense-the 
whiz kids over there that used to work for Robert S. McNamara. They 
were a breed of animal different from the type that I was ever used to 
dealing with, They were taking on subjects like whether expeditions to 
the moon should be in recoverable capsules or in expendable one-shot 
ones. These were high-level things that they would put together in 
reports pretty quickly. 

They’d put a report together in 2 weeks on very, very major matters and 
then give them to us for review. We still had to review them, although 
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we were looking at reports that couldn’t be referenced. There was a lot 
of in-fighting then between the report reviewers and the new people 
that were coming in with different kinds of backgrounds. We didn’t 
understand them, and they didn’t understand us. 

Fortunately, I spent only 2 more years or less in Policy then. Elmer 
Staats changed all that in 1971 when we became the Office of Policy and 
Program Planning, and these other functions were moved to the new 
FGMSD. It was a tough 18 months, from my standpoint, in trying to deal 
with something that we just couldn’t get together on, and the new people 
usually ended up, of course, dealing with Elmer Staats. 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Eschwege 

We already talked about training and about how Leo Herbert wound up 
around that time also as Deputy on the Policy staff. You gave us a 
couple of reasons already, of which one was to try to avoid that conflict 
between how policy was taught and how policy was promulgated by the 
Policy staff. Also, we mentioned that Leo told us that the Comprehen- 
sive Audit Manual really wasn’t being used in training. Leo gave one 
other reason for his move to Policy. He said he moved because there was 
a Civil Service Commission audit of GAO as a result of which it was diffi- 
cult to sustain his high grade where he was; he then moved into Policy 
to keep that grade. 

No one ever said that to me, but that’s very possible. 

The other thing is that Leo didn’t stay there very long, a year or a year 
and a half maybe. Do you recall why that particular organizational 
setup was abandoned? 

As I recall, it was not only Leo’s operation that came in, but a lot of little 
loose ends also came in when the Office of Policy and Special Studies 
was put together. Mose didn’t want that. He agreed to this organiza- 
tional change, considering it an interim measure. That was not Mose’s 
style. He was not interested in having all of those little groups under 
him. He really wanted the policy function, which would include 
accounting, auditing, and reporting; that’s what he was very comfort- 
able with. He was not comfortable with all these other operational 
areas, as he would call them. I’m sure that as time went on, he convinced 
Elmer Staats that they should be placed out in some other areas. 

The other involvement, at least, by Mose-I don’t know whether you 
people were involved in it-had to do with the education panel and the 
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consultant panel of the CG. Was there much activity on your part or the 
rest of the Policy staff? 

Mr. Voss The consultant panel was Mose’s baby; he got quite involved with that 
group. In fact, I thought that Leo Herbert got more involved with the 
educational panel than Mose did, even. 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Eschwege Was that sort of activity continued after there was a planning staff? 

He did. That’s for sure. One thing I recall about you, Al, is that before 
we even had a planning staff, you used to come down to me and presum- 
ably to other groups with a Form 100 and started raising questions 
about why we were doing a job or how we were doing a job. Tell us just 
a little bit about that. When did that start? And at whose direction? Do 
you recall? 

I can tell you point blank that was at Elmer Staats’s direction. All 
Forms 100 would come through the Policy staff for review, not 
approval. The reason we began to review Forms 100 was that we had 
jobs that consumed a large amount of resources, amounting to 8,000, 
10,000, and even 12,000 man-days, fantastic jobs, and at the end of 
some of these jobs, there wasn’t much coming out of them. On top of 
that, Policy did have a good corporate memory about jobs that we had 
done in the past. Mr. Staats was always concerned that we were putting 
a lot of manpower into areas that we had kind of beaten to death, and he 
thought maybe we shouldn’t be into those areas again so soon. 

He gave me a pretty direct order on that, that if I didn’t believe the job 
should be done, I should talk to the Division Director and if I still didn’t 
believe it was to be done, to come talk to him. I didn’t even have to talk 
to Mose on that. He wanted a review up front on these jobs, and he also 
wanted a review up front to make sure we did a preliminary survey 
before we made a full review. Staats knew more about these audit 
manuals than most of our auditors did. He understood what was in the 
manuals, and he wanted preliminary surveys done 50 or 100 days 
before putting Forms 100 through for the detailed reviews on subjects 
we didn’t really have a good feel for. In fact, as you remember, that’s 
when you had to write a digest accompanying the Form 100 for the 
detailed review. As we read some of those digests, we wondered why the 
staff had done the review. In fact, we sometimes wondered whether 
they didn’t have the finding and then went out and audited to support 
that finding, whether it was there or not. [Laughter] 

Page 39 



Interview With Donald J. Horan, Eugene Paid, 
and Allen & Voss, May 14,199l 

Mr. Voss It was continued almost to the time I left. I don’t know what happened 
after I left to go to the region in 1974. I did coordinate my review of the 
Form 100 with Bill Conrardy over at Program Planning. 

Mr. Eschwege Did you kill many jobs that way? 

Mr. Voss Not many; very few really. But I’ll say one thing. If you went down to 
Division Directors enough times on these jobs, they did look them over a 
little bit more carefully and maybe cut back on what they intended to 
do, which was fine. 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss 

Dr. Trask 

Mr. Voss 

I usually got a visit from you on your way home from work. You’d stop 
in on the sixth floor, and you were very nice about it. 

Thank you, Henry. [Laughter] 

We’ve made mention of the reorganizations in 1971 and 1972. I just 
want to raise a question about the effect of these reorganization activi- 
ties on the Office of Policy. It became the Office of Policy and Special 
Studies in 1966 and then the Office of Policy and Program Planning in 
April of 1971. Then in 1972, as part of the major Staats reorganization, 
Policy was separated from Program Planning. This was done at the same 
time that OIR was established, and Morse then became an Assistant 
Comptroller General, with responsibility for those three offices. How did 
this affect Policy? Were these rather rapid organizational changes upset- 
ting, or were they a problem in any way? 

Not from my standpoint. 1 don’t think they were upsetting from 
anyone’s standpoint. I think they opened up an awful lot of good jobs 
and grade levels across GAO. 

I came back to Policy around September or October of 1970, and at that 
time, I was told that I was going to be the Deputy Director in the Office 
of Policy under Mose. He told me then that there were things in the 
making on the reorganization. We all knew long before it was put in 
writing that all of GAO was being reorganized. That was not something 
that was a big, dark secret. 

We all knew that the first place to be reorganized was going to be Mose’s 
place, from a stature standpoint. He would be the first Assistant Comp- 
troller General. And then after that, the operating divisions would be 
reorganized. I think there were a few days between one reorganization 
and the other, I personally felt very pleased with that. I became the 
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Director of the Office of Policy in 1972. I moved up onto the seventh 
floor into a nice suite there, and Henry became Director of a division, 
Vie got to be a Director, and Greg Ahart was a Director. On the Defense 
side, the reorganization opened up a lot of places. 

I believe Mr. Staats opened up a pretty nice organization that was logical 
and gave us some very nice grades. At the time, it didn’t mean any 
money, because we were all making the same amount of money. 

Dr. Trask Did the policy functions or duties change at all‘? 

Mr. Voss No, The policy itself didn’t change, even from an accounting standpoint. 
We still had the accounting policy responsibility, but FGMSD, which was 
created in 1971, did all the groundwork for us if we had to do things 
that would change accounting policy, either internally or externally, for 
guidance to executive agencies. Title 2 of the GAO Policy and Procedures 
Manual for Guidance of Federal Agencies was the main title for 
accounting. FGMSD had the people and the expertise, but it still passed 
revisions through Policy for review. We were responsible for those 
manuals. 

The Holifield Hearings 

Mr. Grosshans Regarding one of the are= we’ve touched on before, we want for the 
record just a little more discussion about the Holifield hearings in 1965. 

Gene already talked about the requirement to identify specific, respon- 
sible officials in the reports; seeking voluntary refunds from contractors 
to a large extent because we really didn’t have statutory authority; and 
referring cases to Justice, even though Justice, in most cases, felt there 
was no legal basis for it. These referrals were reported in the papers, 
and obviously the contractors didn’t like to be tried in the press. Sensa- 
tionalizing the titles of reports was another concern, particularly on 
Defense-related reports, 

All of this led up to the Holifield hearings, but how did we get ourselves 
in this particular mode of operating? Who was the main driver on this? 
Was it Campbell? Was it Mose Morse who was insisting on having the 
individuals identified and having those hard-hitting titles and reports? 
Does anybody recall what led up to that? 
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Mr. Voss I recall the changes very definitely, but I don’t know where they came 
from. The identification of individuals was my biggest problem. At 
times, a grade 9 or a grade 11 out in the field was responsible for a $5 
million goof, and we used to put the name right in the report. That used 
to cause me some heartburn, yet talking to Bob Rasor, I found it didn’t 
cause him any heartburn, I have a feeling the policy change came from 
Joe Campbell, but no one ever told me that. It was certainly backed by 
Ellsworth Morse. 

I thought that was a comedown in our reporting ethics or principles, 
because I didn’t see a real case being made that a particular individual 
was the guy that screwed up this $5 million contract. Some of these con- 
tracting officers, as you well know, had to deal with a lot of contracts 
and cases, They were lucky to come out alive and stay up to date with 
what they had to do. 

I thought even that the Defense Division believed that identifying those 
responsible was a very good thing to be doing. I don’t know. 

Mr. Grosshans We kind of went from good experiences and piggybacked off of that. 

Mr. Voss 

That’s an interesting issue. I went back and read some of Mose’s daily 
entries. He kept journals on all of this. He used to have these meetings of 
heads of division every 6 months or thereabouts, and early on-this was 
about 1963-the entries reveal that Mose was pointing out to the divi- 
sion heads that they really needed to better identify responsibility and 
so on. At the next meeting, he would talk about a good experience that 
somebody had and the actions that resulted from that. In the next one, 
all of a sudden, 5 or 10 instances of identifying in reports those respon- 
sible were discussed. It seems that then this practice pretty soon took on 
a momentum of its own, where Policy was pushing the divisions pretty 
hard to try to meet its expectations. The history isn’t clear on that, 
because we’re missing one of Mose’s journals. 

I was in the field at the time, but I know the guidance was clear from the 
Defense side that unless you do this, you’re not going to get a draft 
report through Policy. Either do this, or forget it. I’m just wondering 
how we got to that very arbitrary position? 

As I was told, the CG met weekly with his Directors, one at a time. 
Sammy would go up and tell what was going to be coming over his desk 
this week, Newman would go up, and Mose would go up. I always felt 
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Mr. Grosshans 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Grosshans 

Mr, Voss 

Mr. Grosshans 

Mr. Voss 

that that kind of guidance came from on high, but that may not necessa- 
rily be true. It may have stemmed from Mose Morse himself; he always 
did feel people should be held responsible. 

You remember the appendix that was put in the report-and we might 
be talking about as many as eight pages-listing all the people who were 
responsible for the activities being discussed in one report. I was at a 
meeting with Elmer Staats and Bob Keller and Mose, and Bob Keller 
said, “We’ve got to get rid of this appendix.” He said, “All we’ve got are 
pages and pages of this.” And Mose said, “No way. We’re going to keep 
that appendix,” and Keller said, “One day, Elmer Staats is going to be 
away from the Office, and I’m going to issue an order.” [Laughter] 

Mose was very strong-minded on identifying officials that were respon- 
sible, but I never felt it was he that said, “Let’s go down to the grade 9 
and get him.” But I don’t know for sure. I know Rasor was firm on that. 

What was Policy’s role during this whole period? Obviously, the hand- 
writing was on the wall that the contractors did not like what was going 
on. I know we got a lot of criticism in the field. I was at some of those 
same contractor places, and there was no doubt about it that they were 
perturbed about it and that they were going to do something about it. 
Did you anticipate that some action would be taken, and if so, what did 
you do about it? 

I personally didn’t have any real inkling ahead of time that Chet 
Holifield was going to hold hearings. If Bob Rasor did, he never told me. 
The scheduling of the hearings came as a surprise to me. I do know that 
from one day of calm to the next day of people running around getting 
ready for the hearings, it was obvious that they were not prepared 
ahead of time, because there were a lot of things that had to be done to 
pull together the information that would be needed to testify. 

Was Policy involved at all in trying to get ready for the hearing and then 
also dealing with the comments and drafts? 

With the printed drafts that came off the Hill? 

Right. 

Yes, I got a little involved, but very little. Rasor got very heavily 
involved in trying to tone down the criticisms that were being levied at 
GAO, some of which were definitely unfair but some of which may well 
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Mr. Grosshans 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Grosshans 

Mr. Voss 

have been fair. There were two different committee report drafts that 
he got. He reviewed them and made suggestions as to how to change the 
language and maybe still keep the essence of the committee’s view of 
what should be done and portray what was bad reporting in the past. 
The final report was a far cry from the first draft, but it was still fairly 
damaging in describing the kind of work we had been doing. 

Did Mose Morse play a role at all in this, and particularly did he help 
formulate the position we took in responding to the Committee’s recom- 
mendations? Some people were somewhat critical of Mr. Weitzel’s posi- 
tion and responses, viewing it as caving in too much to the committee. 

Yes, Mose did take a role in that. I don’t know if you were involved in 
the auditorium meeting that we had. 

No, I wasn’t. 

If there was any man that could come in after those hearings to kind of 
smooth over the problems that had developed between the House Gov- 
ernment Operations Committee and the General Accounting Office, 
Frank Weitzel was the man, and he did an awful lot to smooth things 
over. 

But what happened was that we were killing jobs and reports con- 
taining, I would say, millions of dollars worth of findings. Some were 
being killed because of things that Frank Weitzel had said. He reviewed 
several reports that we had killed because it was not a very good time to 
be putting out those types of reports. I don’t think the Civil Division 
killed many, but the Defense Division was killing many jobs and report 
drafts. Maybe we were looking at a backlash here, and we were really 
caving in completely and just dumping draft report after draft report on 
contractors down the tubes. Weitzel got very upset about that. He got 
concerned about that. 

I think we resurrected some and issued them as little Group III and 
Group II reports to agency officials, but we may have killed as many as 
400,500, or 600 reports or jobs. When I say killed, I don’t mean they 
came to Policy and we killed them. They just went off the record. 

You alluded to the splitting of the reports; what was Policy’s position on 
that? On a clothing items review, we made five separate reports, belt 
buckles being one of them, buttons was another one, etc. 

Mr. Grosshans 
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Mr. Voss The flap on the trousers was the one I remember. [Laughter] 

Mr. Grosshans Right. How did Policy let this type of thing happen? It wasn’t just the 
type of issues identified in the Holifield hearings. There were other 
reporting practices at the same time. Take the ADP reports that some of 
you have already touched on. We put out 40 or 50 ADP reports in a short 
period of time; they all had the same message over and over and over. 
How did Policy let this type of report go out? 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Grosshans 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Pahl 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Grosshans 

Initially, I think, we thought they were very good reports. They were 
simple to read, they were simple to understand, and there were big dol- 
lars attached to them. Not only the Defense Division but h-v Crawford 
[Assistant Director, Civil Division] liked those short reports. He was over 
in GSA (General Services Administration] doing the same thing you were 
doing at DSA [Defense Supply Agency]. And they were very simple 
reports, the Congress understood them, the press understood them, and 
the military understood them. We thought they were pretty nice reports. 

But I agree that after we had issued 20,30, or 40 ADP reports, we began 
to push harder for us to look at the basic management weaknesses and 
to look at the broader implications. We said, “Don’t be just taking one 
system in one agency and criticizing it. Take a look at what’s wrong with 
the regulations and policies in the agency and maybe even in the central 
agency of the government that is handling ADP." 

But, initially, we thought they were good. We backed down on that posi- 
tion later by saying, “We think we’ve had enough of this kind of report. 
It’s time we took a look at the overall picture.” I remember that one very 
clearly, The reports were very well-received. 

After 40 of them? 

No. Not after 40. The first 10 or 15 of them were well-received. 

They could be gotten out fairly rapidly, too, couldn’t they? 

Yes, they got out fast. 

Some of those reports took a lot of time. This was before we had the use 
of computers. We were sitting there with calculators recording data on 
40-column schedules; we were calculating the variables and figuring out 
the lease-versus-buy costs. I got involved in a few of those, and this 
work was not the glamorous work that most of us came to GAO for. 
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Mr. Voss And yet in some regions, because of their type of work and activity, that 
was basically the best work for them. In fact, we developed some 
experts in the clothing area; as time passed, it was hard to convert them 
from that kind of work to some other kind of work. So we knew where 
they always were. [Laughter] 

Mr. Horan 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Grosshans 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Grosshans 

Mr. Voss 

And they could keep finding these opportunities for cost savings. They 
knew exactly where to find them. 

They were good at that work. When you talked about program results 
jobs, forget it. They couldn’t do that kind of work. 

From the policy standpoint, what were the repercussions from the 
Holifield hearings and the resulting final report? As you pointed out, the 
report was somewhat toned down over the earlier versions, but how did 
that impact Policy? 

First of all, we did cut back on the amount of reviews we were doing in 
specific contractor plants. I think it was Westinghouse that had been 
taking a real beating from our reviews, because Westinghouse had such 
good records that we could spot these findings. If you went into one of 
the other big companies, it was hard to find what the costs were. But 
Westinghouse was an ideal firm. 

But I guess the biggest change was that GAO focused more on trying to 
look at systems and trying to find the management weaknesses. We did 
get more positive in framing our report titles and our side captions. We 
weren’t overly critical, and we toned down the language of our reports. 
We brought in an Information Officer, who was supposedly going to tone 
them down more, but instead he built them up. 

Of course, we brought in a new CG in March of 1966. 

It’s also kind of interesting-you alluded to that earlier-that the 
written GAO policies in those days really didn’t force you to do those 
type of things we just talked about. When you looked at the written poli- 
cies, you could see that they were fairly reasonable. It was the imple- 
mentation and interpretation, I guess, the word of mouth, that caused 
people to make some of the changes. 

Also, the acceptance of what came through the Office and got issued 
was a signal for others to go forward with similar reports. The last 
report issued suggested what the current policy was. 
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I guess there were hard feelings in that auditorium when Mose stood up 
and in effect said, “If you guys had followed the policy, you wouldn’t be 
in this predicament.” We condoned these deviations from policy, 
because every report that was to be signed by the CG went through 
Policy. But it’s true; those were good policies. 

Concern About GAO 
Policies 

Mr. Eschwege Let me just mention a couple of specific policies that in one way or 
another got us into some trouble. One of them, I must tell you, I was 
personally affected by, but the policy applied to a number of our jobs. It 
had to do with making audits in areas that are currently the subject of 
court cases. I’m speaking of the Tennessee Tombigbee Waterway review, 
which was conducted in the twilight of Staats’s I5-year term, but there 
were similar cases that I was involved in, not resulting in any particular 
problem. 

This was also one of those “generally-speaking-type policies” that you 
could point to and say, “Well, we should end this audit because this area 
is the subject of court cases.” It might involve an environmental issue, or 
in the case of Tennessee Tombigbee, it was the railroads that were suing 
the project because they felt that there were some environmental 
problems. But behind all that was a concern that competition might arise 
from having a waterway taking away some of the traffic from the 
railroads. 

That’s a pohcy that had to be coordinated with our General Counsel. I 
don’t know whether you were in on formulating it. 

Have you run into it maybe, Don, at some point? 

Mr. Horan I don’t know the origin of it. It’s been a policy as long as I can remember. 

Mr. Voss It just seemed to be a very reasonable type of policy to stay away from 
things that are to be tried and settled in court so that the information we 
might develop couldn’t be used by either party. 
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Mr. Eschwege It was easy to end a job when you were starting it and found out early 
that the matter was in the courts. But in the case of Tennessee Tom- 
bigbee, the job had been under way for some time and the issue wound 
up in the court then. And that added to the problem internally and 
externally. 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. voss 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss Sounds great. 

Mr. Eschwege But it created some problems in that the press felt that we were backing 
away from the review because of some congressional pressure. 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Eschwege 

I thought that generally we stayed away from individual water resource 
projects, too. 

Well, you’re right. This was not a job affecting just Tennessee Tom- 
bigbee. It was a job to review the methodology that was being used in 
three projects, this being one of them. 

GAO wanted to determine whether the costs versus the benefits were 
favorable for the projects. 

Yes. In other words, how did the methodology used result in a favorable 
cost-benefit ratio, and was it a sound methodology? 

Did that report ever see the light of day? 

Yes. We did stop work on that project, but we planned to issue a report 
about the other two projects to demonstrate what the methodology was 
and how it could be improved. 

Oh, I see. But we said we were interested only in trying to show whether 
the methodology was right or wrong, and we were able to do it with two 
projects. So why should we review a third project? 

Something like that, yes. 

That sounds good. 

But the problem didn’t go away for a long time. We finally did get back 
into that project because we were requested to do so and, I believe, the 
courts had disposed of the case. So we issued a separate report in 1981 
on the Tennessee Tombigbee Waterway. 
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Mr+ Horan 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Horan 

The other policy matter I know Don must have been involved in at one 
time or another was the Mayaguez report in 1976, and this had to do 
with the release of the report. As you recall, it was released not by us 
per se but by the requester at a time that was opportune for the 
requester. 

Politically opportune. 

Yes. Did you get involved in that at all? 

I was in Policy at the time, and I know of the case. I can describe a little 
bit about what our policy was at that time. We went along with the 
requester’s wishes in terms of the release of our reports, and usually we 
got the requester to release such reports within a reasonable period of 
time. In this case, we had issued the report to the requester, but I believe 
he just kept putting us off when we asked him to release the report. As 
Election Day came closer, he decided that this was the time to release 
the report because it had some political advantage for the party that he 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Horan 

represented. 

Of course, this brought a fire storm of criticism to the General 
Accounting Office, suggesting it was being used for political purposes 
and questioning whether it was the independent, objective appraiser 
that it purported to be. So after that, we did take a very close look at the 
policies that we had about release of products, and my recollection is 
that our Office of Congressional Relations [OCR] had extensive discus- 
sions with the key committees and tried to arrive at a new policy that 
would permit us to release reports to the public, I believe, within 30 
days of the issuance of the report, with some provision for delay if a 
hearing was about to be scheduled. 

So we did review the policy. It was an awkward position for the General 
Accounting Office to be in, and it did result in a pretty important change 
in our policy on release of reports. 

You mentioned OCR. I guess that in that sort of a situation, Policy staff 
did not take the initiative. Instead, Mr. Staats looked to OCR to help 
change that. 

There was virtually no important circumstance that I can recall where 
the Office of Policy staff would be dealing directly with the people on 
the Hill on an issue like this. OCR or Mr. Keller or somebody at that level 
always dealt with the Hill on such issues. 
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Dr. Trask There was a meeting in Williamsburg, though, right after the Mayaguez 
report was released where the division heads and other officials partici- 
pated. This group helped develop this 30-day release policy. Do you 
remember that meeting? 

Mr. Horan No, I don’t, 

Dr. Trask The Mayaguez report was released in early October, the day before a 
presidential debate, which was the political issue. Within about 2 
months, in December 1976, Mr. Staats had the division heads and other 
people at this Williamsburg meeting. 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Flschwege 

Mr. Voss 

I remember that meeting. The issue was probably on the agenda. I don’t 
think it was on the agenda for this sole purpose. The debate was 
between Carter and Ford; Carter brought the issue up; and, I guess, Ford 
was not prepared to react. 

Let me bring up one other Policy function. It has to do with the Freedom 
of Information Act. A decision was made that we would follow the spirit 
of the act. I guess Policy always has had a role to play when there have 
been requests to provide information in GAO files. Was there anything 
unusual there that you want to discuss? 

We followed the spirit of it, but regarding requests for GAO working 
papers, I don’t think that we ever really said there would be complete 
access to our working papers. We would review the working papers and 
see whether there was anything in there that we should not release. 
Some of those working papers were hard to even read. We didn’t want 
things to get out to the public that could be easily misinterpreted. 

Mose was very strong against just dumping working papers into the 
press room and saying, “Here are our working papers on this job.” He 
felt that a fairly detailed review should be made of those papers before 
they were released to make certain that they would not be misunder- 
stood and would not be used out of context, 

Let me just ask you: If the working papers could not be read, how were 
they reviewed? 

I had a chance one time to go through them, and it was hard to follow 
even what they were talking about. We were supposed to be a fairly 
professional organization, yet people just might jot things down and 
shove them in their working papers, although they had nothing to do 
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Mr. E&hwege 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Elschwege 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Horan 

Mr. Grosshans 

Mr, Worm 

Dr. Trask 

with the job. As professional an organization as we have here, I would 
hate to have people like the press just walk in and look at the working 
papers. 

What was the policy if you had done a job for a requester up on the Hill, 
and she or he asked for the working papers? 

We would look through the working papers first. 

But the requester would be entitled to look at them? 

Yes, we would let the requester look at them. 

One part that was especially sensitive, I think, was the internal review 
comments that were raised on drafts. We would not agree to permit 
unrestricted access even to a requester to early drafts, reviewers’ com- 
ments, and the like because we felt that that might inhibit open and 
candid discussion of disagreements that arise in the review process. 
Anyone, including the requester or the public, could use a comment 
raised by a reviewer as a reason why a report shouldn’t have gone out 
or why a position was not as strong as it should have been. 

For the record, as Don well knows, that’s one situation to which our 
exemption applies. If we were to release these comments, it could inhibit 
our staff’s handling of them. 

And what happens, too, of course, is that some reviewers will write 
things right on the workpapers, little notes in the margins and so forth. 
There again you could have a situation where you’ve got a review com- 
ment that just is not appropriate for external release. So we had to 
watch for that. 

I want to raise a question about the writing of the history of GAO, which 
interests me. Mr. Staats was interested in this, and there were various 
projects. He brought in Joe Pois (among others), who was a University 
of Pittsburgh political scientist, to work on the history. Dr. Pois eventu- 
ally produced a manuscript that was reviewed by Policy like a report, 
and Mr. Morse played a big role in that. 

This may have been when you were Director of the Office of Policy. Do 
you remember the circumstances here? 
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Mr. Horan I know this is one that Mr. Morse personally handled, quite frankly. He 
didn’t farm it out for other reviewers. I knew that there was some con- 
troversy. Mr. Morse was unhappy with the tone and some of the issues 
that were being raised in the Pois drafts. 

Dr. Trask 

Mr. Voss 

Dr. Trask 

Mr. Horan 

I’ve seen a copy of the manuscript that Morse worked on; he was very 
critical of a good bit of the Pois manuscript. It is my impression that Mr. 
Staats wanted basically a factual history of GAO, and Pois went beyond 
that to include analysis and criticism, some of it adverse criticism, and 
this was reflected, I think, in Morse’s review. I think the original idea 
was that GAO would support the publication of the manuscript, but that 
was not done. Pois eventually published it on his own in a book that was 
called Watchdog on the Potomac [1979]. I think that’s another example 
of the kind of role that Morse played. 

You know, Mose was very astute and would not allow things to be pub- 
lished about GAO that he felt were just not fair or accurate. Regarding 
this kind of thing, it was his baby. He reviewed such areas in detail. He 
didn’t rely on anyone else. 

I think there was a certain amount of feeling that there was no partic- 
ular reason why GAO itself would want to support or publicize some of 
the things that were said in that manuscript. 

Yes, I suspect Mose himself would agree with some of the criticisms and 
be prepared to discuss and debate those internally, but I think it just 
went against his grain to have the General Accounting Office support 
the publication of that kind of a document. It seemed to me that’s why 
he was concerned about it. 

Enforcement of GAO 
Policies 

Dr. Trask I want to bring up another topic just briefly, and that’s the degree of 
latitude given to divisions and offices in carrying out GAO policies, for 
example, determining the level of reporting and quality assurance pro- 
vided and dealing with the Congress. Do you have any comments on 
this? What kind of problems developed? 
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Mr. Voss Let’s take the level of reporting first. Obviously, if you got a congres- 
sional request, there was no doubt in those days how that was going to 
be reported and who was going to sign it. That was going to be signed by 
the CG. If you had a self-initiated job, the level of reporting would be 
determined right in the division as to whether it would go to the Con- 
gress, whether it would go to the head of the agency and be signed by 
the division director, or whether it would go below that level and be 
signed by an Associate Director. 

Policy reviewed periodically the reports that were issued at a level 
below the Congress or members of the Congress and evaluated whether 
they should have been issued to people at a higher level. Under Elmer 
Staats, that review was assigned to Mose and he gave the results to 
Elmer Staats. In almost 100 percent of the cases, we were in total agree- 
ment that the reports should, in fact, have gone to lower levels. There 
were a lot of them going to the Congress that we thought should be going 
to the lower levels. 

But initially, the determination was being made in the division, always 
remembering that Division Directors had to come before the CG periodi- 
cally and talk about the work that they were doing and the work they 
were planning to do. You could tell just from the CG’S interest whether 
you thought you had better send that report up to him for signature 
even if the findings might appear to be not too substantive, because he 
was very interested in a lot of subjects. We in Policy used to sit in the 
meetings with the idea of sensing Mr. Staats’s interest in these reports 
and determining whether he thought they should go to the Congress; we 
would then wait for them to come through Policy for review to see how 
substantive they were. 

But I don’t think there was any problem in the level of reporting, unless 
it was a problem that too many were going to the Congress; these went 
through Policy. 

Mr. Horan 

Mr. Voss Especially if you had spent 5,000 man-days to do the job. [Laughter] 

Dr. Trask What about dealing with the Congress and congressiona1 staff on 
request assignments, meetings, hearings, and preparation for hearings? 

Al, you mentioned earlier that it was almost an admission that we 
hadn’t done such a great job if we did not send the resulting report to 
the Congress and have it signed by the CG. Individuals in the organiza- 
tions felt a tremendous pressure because of that. 
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Mr. voss I guess that back in the Joe Campbell days, we were encouraged not to 
go up to the Hill too much. Elmer Staats in his day was very anxious to 
develop this relationship between the audit staffs and the staff on the 
Hill. In fact, sometimes the chairman of a committee-I met with the 
chairmen of several committees to discuss national issues-would be 
very happy about that. We used to have to write a contact memo- 
randum, of course, when we came back. We always gave Mr. Staats an 
opportunity to go with us, especially if we were meeting with a member, 
and he himself would set up meetings where he would take some of the 
staff with him to go and meet with members. 

Dr. Trask 

Mr. Voss 

Mr, Grosshans 

Mr. Voss 

The Office of Legislative Liaison- that is now OCR-kept a pretty good 
handle on what was going on up there; that was Bob Keller’s little group. 
In fact, Bob didn’t like it when the office got expanded and one or two 
people were added to that group so that we could get better coverage of 
the proceedings up on the Hill. There were so many staffs going up on 
the Hill on a continuing basis. They were up there all the time. 

I don’t think Mr. Staats, for instance, had any problem with this kind of 
relationship. In fact, there you found out what kind of work you should 
be doing. Why do work that they’re not interested in? 

Did OCR set the rules for this, or did Policy have anything to do with 
that? 

Oh, yes. Policy had a lot to do with it, but OCR became pretty dominant, 
especially when Keller became the Deputy Comptroller General, as to 
what kind of rules we would have. But we issued a policy on relation- 
ships with the Congress. That was part of our Report Manual. 

How did Policy know whether the policies as contained in these manuals 
were actually being followed? Today, we have the PAQRS feedback and 
OIE [Office of Internal Evaluation] reviews that might deal with that. In 
the earlier days, how did you know that the 5,000 or so GAO folks out 
there weren’t independent operators and weren’t doing their own thing? 

Well, how did I know? I guess OCR once in a while would give me a clue 
that things were not going right. I had some friends up there on the Hill 
who made sure that I knew if I had to know. There were also the contact 
memorandums. I did get some contact memorandums to read, especially 
if Bob Keller or Marty Fitzgerald, the Director of OCR, thought there was 
something there I should see, but not all of them. They would send them 
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Mr. Voss 

Mr. Grosshans 

Mr. Horan 

Mr. Voss 

Dr. Trask 

Mr. Voss 

down to me. If you say was there some sort of a routine or system that 
kept my finger on the pulse up there, no. Absolutely not. 

Mr. Pahl Mr. Staats got involved. I seem to remember that at the audit site, notes 
were coming from OCR with Mr. Staats’s comments on something we had 
done or discussed on the Hill. 

He got involved very heavily. Policy probably got involved less than 
Elmer Staats did. As I say, that was Bob Keller’s little bailiwick, and he 
knew exactly what was going on on the Hill. If he wanted me to know 
something that he thought I didn’t know, he would tell me. 

Don, did you have any concerns about how these policies were being 
implemented? 

Actually, you’re too busy just working on the reports to be concerned 
about this matter too much. Most often, I think, you would find out 
about it if it was a serious problem. Of course, you’re going to hear it 
from the Congress or the agency or the media. Somebody would be 
raising enough of a fuss so that people would get together and say, 
“What went wrong here ?” And then you would start saying, “Well, is it 
because we haven’t been clear enough or complete enough in the policy 
guidance? Let’s get some people together and consider a new policy.” 

So it tended to be a reaction to something that either got away from us, 
got out of hand, or happened for the first time and that created some 
problem. Policy would then try to do something about putting some 
guidance out. But there wasn’t any systematic check on compliance with 
the policies, except for the report review. 

I like what Don says on that, and I think we mentioned it earlier. Many 
policies came about because of what had been happening. As opposed to 
being very prescriptive, Policy was descriptive. 

How did Policy deal with what might be called policy violations by divi- 
sions and offices mentioned earlier-Sam Hughes *and ow, Canfield and 
EMD? They didn’t always follow the policies. How did Policy deal with 
that or react to those kinds of things? 

Regarding OFE, we were very happy about that and it was a relief not to 
deal with that operation. Six months or 8 months after Monte Canfield 
came on board, he did get a pretty good Deputy, Dexter Peach, who 
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knew what the policies were. Peach was assigned, I’m sure, very pur- 
posely to have Monte hook up with someone who was from inside GAO. 

Mr. Horan Well, Monte may not have even realized it, but there was a policy review 
on virtually everything that was going out of EMD. I was involved in 
some of the reviews. Now, Monte stayed above those reviews, and 1 
worked with Assistant Directors and with Monte’s Deputy, but I doubt 
that there was anything that went out without having some kind of a 
Policy review. We knew what was in those reports and papers. If there 
was a big problem, we could make it known. 

Dr. Trask 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss 

He said in the oral history interview that we did with him that he 
couldn’t deal with Morse and that, in fact, Peach was dealing with 
Policy for him. Isn’t that what he said, Henry? 

Yes. It’s consistent with what they just said. Peach was his Deputy, and 
that was good enough. He did say that a number of reports that he 
would have liked to go to the Congress had been downgraded in order to 
avoid a Policy review. 

Well, a lot of people did that. 

That didn’t bother you? 

As we reviewed the Group II reports, we thought that lower level of 
reporting was a very good decision on their part. I don’t recall that any- 
thing that Monte put out as a Group II report should, in our opinion, 
have gone to the Congress. 

Relationship of 
Comptrollers General 
to Office of Policy 

Mr. Grosshans Do you want to talk a little bit about the access that the Policy staff, 
including Mose and succeeding Directors, had to the CGs? What was your 
relationship, and what were your marching orders? Did they signifi- 
cantly differ among the various CGS? 

Mr. Voss Substantially. 
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Mr. Horan I served a couple of years as the Director of the Office of Policy for 
EImer Staats, and then my second tour as Director was with Chuck Bow- 
sher. My access to Chuck Bowsher was just so much more frequent, and 
it seemed like I was involved in so many more things. At the time that I 
served the tour under Chuck Bowsher, we had an Office of Quality 
Assurance that was doing the report review. So in fact, Chuck Bowsher 
was drawing me in to matters that went beyond the actual report 
review. 

Elmer Staats basically dealt with Mose Morse. There were very few 
issues where you would end up dealing directly with Elmer Staats at the 
reporting end. Usually those things were resolved beforehand, or if you 
had a big issue, Mose Morse would go in and work that out with Elmer 
Staats. 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Horan 

Mr. Grosshans 

Mr. Voss 

I was in the Policy office during the tenure of Joe Campbell and Elmer 
Staats. There was practically no contact with Joe Campbell, except at 
the Director level. With Elmer Staats, I had a lot of contact as Director 
of Policy and even as Assistant and Associate Director of Policy. We met 
two, three, four times a week-sometimes more-on reports, on pro- 
gram planning, or on specific jobs. There was a world of difference 
between those two gentlemen. 

I remember that at the time that I was there, we were in the go/no-go 
mode, so that naturally led, I think, to less contact with the CG than at 
the time that Al was there. 

You mentioned something before about recruiting quality staff for the 
Policy office; we have got some good examples of such people sitting 
here at the table, but there were other very qualified people that went 
through there. Who did most of the recruiting? Was that Mose himself, 
and if so, how did he attract the talent that he wanted there? 

When we started the discussion, you said an assignment to Policy was 
generally viewed as not being one of the fast-stepping type of opportuni- 
ties for a number of reasons. You were off the line and you didn’t pro- 
duce Group I reports that most of the time you reviewed. With that type 
of baggage, how did you get the type of talent that you were looking 
for? 

When I went into Policy, we had Charlie Hylander, who reviewed 
reports on a part-time basis, and Walter De Vaughn, who was also 
assigned to review reports full-time. Mose dealt with Samuelson almost 
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as you would with a brother. Both A. T. Samuelson and Mose were very 
close. Sammy would see to it that good men were sent over to Mose. 
Mose did not seek staff from the Defense Division to review reports. He 
did seek staff from FOD. Bob Rasor also did not deal with the Defense 
Division, because he and Mose just didn’t feel the Division would send a 
quality person over. 

So how did we get good people? Well, promotions did occur in Policy, 
and John Thornton, FOD, was very helpful, because a lot of people in the 
region wanted to come into Washington for various reasons, but promo- 
tion was one of them, obviously. John was very good in steering good 
people into Mose’s shop, too. 

I remember a discussion I had with Mose in the mid-1960s, when he was 
trying to convince me to come in to Washington. I wasn’t prepared to 
make the move at the time, but it certainly looked like a good opportu- 
nity from what I saw at the time. 

Regional Managers-to my knowledge, all of them-thought fairly 
highly of Mose and were very anxious, if they had a good man that 
wanted to come into Washington, to recommend him to Mose. 

Al Clavelli was very disappointed when I turned that opportunity down. 
He told me-and I can remember that very vividly-that he really felt 
it was a good opportunity and that that was really what I ought to strive 
to be in GAO. 

You see what happened? 

I have to say that he gave you some good advice, because I think a tour 
in the Office of Policy, particularly because of the way we were doing 
report review, was an excellent way to really get to know what the poli- 
cies were and what the good and bad points were in products reviewed. 
From there, you could then move on to be an Assistant Director or an 
Associate Director or whatever and do your job that much better. So I 
think that while it may not be pleasant-there was a certain confronta- 
tional nature to reviewing reports, and you don’t have the same excite- 
ment as doing your own jobs and so forth-it’s an excellent training 
tool. 
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Looking Back on 
Policy Career 

Mr. Grosshans As a final point, we ought to take some time to have each of you reflect 
a little bit on what you feel you achieved; how that tenure in Policy 
really impacted on your career; and what, if anything, you would do 
differently today if you had to do it over again. Don had three shots at 
it. [Laughter] 

Mr. Pahl The best part of my career in GAO began in 1972 when Al Voss asked me 
if I would join him in Policy. At Policy, I had the pleasure of working 
with Al and with Don Horan. Perhaps the worst part of my Policy career 
came in drafting sections of the Comprehensive Audit Manual. I found it 
very difficult to find time to work on them and to get my writings 
accepted by Mr. Morse. In fact, if I may say, I remember telling Al that 
Mr. Morse did use my material, but primarily as a basis for rewriting 
everything on the back of my draft. [Laughter] 

The work in Policy was a good career development tool, although I 
retired at the end of my career in Policy. Al didn’t mention it, but I 
always felt that one reason why people went to Policy was the people 
who worked there. There were good people there as there were 
throughout the organization, and working with Al attracted me. I had 
worked for him before on the Interior audit. Although I had no great 
accomplishment there, I helped a little bit, like we did in all our GAO 
work. Everybody puts in a little bit, and we come out with a fine 
product. 

We were involved in all aspects of GAO'S work. I think that was part of 
being in Policy+ We even got into the training aspect. We got out to 
various field locations and talked policy, listened to concerns, and 
brought policy questions back. So it was an enjoyable experience and a 
rewarding one. You helped get a product out that not only Mr. Staats but 
even Mr. Morse would buy. 

I can remember when Al had an accident-I’m digressing here a little 
bit-and Don had been rotated off. I was the Acting Deputy or Acting 
Acting Deputy for Policy for several weeks. During this time, I had con- 
tact with Mr. Morse only once when he called me in on one report. He 
reached around the desk and said, “Gene, this is the worst”-and it 
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seemed like it took him an hour to find that report-“title I’ve ever seen 
on a report.” [Laughter] But that is just an interesting add-on. 

Mr. Grosshans Al? 

Mr. voss 

Mr. Grosshans 

Mr. voss 

I came out of the Civil Division when I was assigned to Policy for the 
first time. I had a feel for the way the Civil Division operated but had 
absolutely no feel for the way the Defense Division ran; the difference 
between their operating methods was really like the difference between 
night and day. I’m not saying one was better than the other, but they 
ran differently. I also saw how the International Division was run. I 
even got a little bit of M)D experience, because, during that time, the 
responsibility for reporting on the audits of financial statements was in 
the region and their drafts went through John Thornton and then in to 
us; so I saw how the whole GAO ran. I dealt a lot with the General 
Counsel and OCR. I also dealt with the Transportation and Claims Divi- 
sions I couldn’t possibly get the kind of experience in any one division 
that I did get in Policy. So as far as knowing GAO, that gave me a heck of 
a good background. 

From there, I went to the region, and I got a darn good background as a 
Regional Manager. I came back and got a darn good background as a 
Director of an operating division. I don’t think that at that time there 
was anyone in GAO who had been the head of a regional office, the head 
of an operating division, and the head of a staff office. Then I left GAO 
after I got those three backgrounds. [Laughter] 

But, I’m serious. If you think about it, you’ll see that those three types 
of background provided a heck of a good training for anybody. You 
don’t have to be the head of these offices to necessarily get such 
background. 

Anything you want to say about what you would do differently if you 
had to do it again? 

I guess that truthfully, if I had to do it again, I would have finished my 
career in the region as a Regional Manager. I don’t know how it is these 
days, but I understand a lot of Directors wanted to get into the regions 
and be Regional Managers. You can make a heck of a good contribution 
in a regional office if you’ve got a headquarters background and if you 
don’t get stale. You don’t have the pressure that you have as a Division 
Director in headquarters, but yet you can still make a good contribution. 
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Mr. Grosshans 

Mr. Horan 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss 

In Philadelphia, about 80 percent of our resources were devoted to 
Defense Division work and only 20 percent to Civil Division work. But 
we changed that. When I left there, it was a 50-50 region, and we had 
gotten people involved in types of reviews that they had never done 
before. Coming out of Washington, you’ve got a background to help 
people to change when you are asked to go into the program results 
reviews or management reviews. You don’t have that background if you 
didn’t come out of Washington. I’m talking now about how it was in the 
past. 

I would have stayed and retired in the Philadelphia Regional Office or 
some other region. 

Don, do you want to say anything? 

I don’t know that I would change anything, but looking back at the 
places where I’ve worked at GAO, I think the first 10 years in the field 
were very valuable to me. I think that’s a time when I learned from 
some very strict and very competent people about some of the fairly 
disciplined things that you have to do about planning, gathering evi- 
dence, and drafting reports. I think that was very valuable, and the time 
I spent as a report reviewer added to that. So that rounded me out a bit 
and prepared me to be an Assistant Director and then eventually a 
Deputy Director and a Director. 

So I think some diversification is good, and it seemed to me it worked 
out just about right. I don’t think I would change too much of that. I’m 
not ready to take another tour in the Office of Policy; I was there three 
times. I think I’ve learned that operation by now. [Laughter] 

Al, you and I talked about this earlier. I thought you might have some 
comment about the current policies of GAO generally. As effective as GAO 
is today, and it certainly is in the news a lot, you might have some 
thoughts as to some additional opportunities for GAO to be helpful to the 
Congress, either through different policies or laws that might make it 
easier for the organization to get at the very important things that it 
needs to do. 

I do have something in mind, you’re right, that has remained unfinished 
and that in my view would have been nice to have had changed while I 
was in the General Accounting Office. That is the name of the General 
Accounting Office. 
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In the past, Bob Keller; Frank Weitzel; and even Elmer Staats, I guess, 
were afraid to change the basic legislation to do this because of what 
other changes might be made. GAO is not an accounting office in terms of 
the work it does, and that’s a very misleading title for an agency that 
does fantastic work as reported on television and in the newspapers, 
books, and magazines and as an agency that causes changes and 
improvements in nationwide and international programs, 

The General Accounting Office is a heck of a title for an organization 
that does that kind of work. I would hope that somewhere OCR, the Gen- 
eral Counsel, and Policy would get together and say, “Maybe it’s time we 
change the title of this agency and give it a name that really equates to 
what the heck we do.” 

To me, if people don’t really know you, you’re bookkeepers. You take 
care of the books of the government. That’s what you are. 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Voss 

Have you got any ideas? 

No, I don’t have any ideas but I do think that with all the talent you’ve 
got in this Office, you can come up with something better. 

There was some attempt by Senator Abraham Ribicoff some years back 
to give us a different title and also to make it clearer that this GAO is 
headed by the CG of the United States. By now, I think, we understand 
that the Justice Department is not headed by the Secretary of Justice, 
but by the Attorney General, but I’m not sure that that has come fully 
across to some people in the case of the CG and GAO. 

On the other hand, I guess, the thought here is that we’re really well 
known today as “GAO" and that unless we can find some way of 
retaining the GAO acronym but having the letters represent the initials of 
another, more descriptive name, we would lose something. 

I don’t disagree with that. You would lose something among people who 
know you, but they ought to be able to make the change if you come up 
with a different acronym. A lot of people who don’t know what GAO 
does and hear the name “General Accounting Office” think you’re a 
bookkeeper. They might think of you differently if you give the agency 
a nice title that really says what you do in this agency. 

It’s not easy, now. I agree that acronym carries a lot of weight. The 
agencies sure as heck know you. 
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Mr. Horam 

Dr. Trask You don’t want to be a captive of history, either. 

Mr. Grosshans Well, we certainly appreciate the three of you participating in this dis- 
cussion today. I think Policy has been a very important part of GAO. I 
think we’ve got a little better insight here+ I always thought there was 
more rhyme or reason to the making of policy. You disillusioned me a 
little bit. [Laughter] But nevertheless, we certainly appreciate your 
coming in-Gene from Florida, Al from Virginia, and Don for being 
willing to participate. Don has been so much a part of Policy because of 
his three different tours there that we really felt it would have been 
hard to discuss this topic without getting him involved. So we made an 
exception to the rule of interviewing someone that’s still active in GAO, 
but I think it worked out very well. 

Mr. Eschwege 

Mr. Grossham 

Dr. Trask 

Mr. Grosshans Well, we’ll think about it, Al. Like Henry says, this has come up over the 
years a number of times and different things have been tried. But it’s 
kind of hard to change an almost 75-year tradition. 

Well, at one time, Government Auditing Office might have done it, but 
not anymore. [Laughter] 

We certainly want to thank each of you and we’re looking forward to 
publishing the transcript. 

I appreciate your coming, and I think that we’ve pretty much updated 
the history of the Office of Policy now to Werner’s term in Policy since 
1986. All we have to do in another 20 years when Werner retires is to 
write an addendum to all this, and then we’ll have it all. 

Why are you pushing me? [Laughter] 

I just want to add my thanks. I think we’ve gotten some insights into the 
work of you three as individuals and also learned more about people like 
Ellsworth Morse and others who were involved. So it’s a good contribu- 
tion to our record. 
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